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Friday, April 27, 2007 


--- Upon commencing at 9:33 a.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


The Board is sitting today in connection with a Procedural Order that was issued on March 28th with respect to a motion that was filed by Erie Thames Power Corporation on January 19th of this year.  A revised motion was filed on February 7th.  


Those motions asked the Board to review and amend certain aspects of a decision and order that this Board granted on January 2, which in turn related to an application filed by the applicant on October 28th pursuant to section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, requesting the Board to set and approve just and reasonable rates for the utility effective May 1, 2006.


Can we have the appearances, please.


APPEARANCES:

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  With me to my left is Ms. Lenore Dougan, to my right, Mr. Martindale Davies and Daria Babaie.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. STOLL:  Scott Stoll for Erie Thames, and I have a number of gentlemen with me:  Mr. Jeff Pettit from Erie Thames Power; Mr. Chris White from Erie Thames Powerlines; Mr. Graig Pettit from Erie Thames Services; Mr. John Skeoch, Erie Thames Services -- sorry, Erie Thames Power for Mr. Skeoch, and then Ron Martindale.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, Jay Shepherd from the School Energy Coalition, and I'm here by myself.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd.


Mr. Millar, how do you want to proceed?


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I understand that there is a preliminary matter that counsel proposes to resolve first.  It's really between Mr. Stoll and Mr. Shepherd, so perhaps I'll pass it to them.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. Shepherd or Mr. Stoll?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. STOLL:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Mr. Shepherd and I seem to have a disagreement on the scope and nature of this motion.  In the position of Erie Thames, this motion really relates to -- it's more of a legal issue, and during the Technical Conference Mr. Shepherd asked a number of questions that really reflect some of the underlying costs, especially in relation to some affiliate issues.


With all due respect, we don't see that as part of the motion.  We basically agreed with the Board's decision, other than bad debt expense, with the establishment of the revenue requirement.  It's a question of the recovery of that revenue requirement, and that's what we see as the motion.


So to the extent that Mr. Shepherd wants to go elsewhere with that, we don't see that as part of the motion.  We wouldn't presume to take up the Board's time and put witnesses forward unless the Board feels that those issues are in play. 


So I would -- subject to the Board ruling otherwise, my proposal would be to go straight to argument.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, we're perfectly happy to go to argument.  We think that the ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Can you speak up?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?


MR. KAISER:  Speak up a bit.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm too soft spoken, as we all know.


We're happy to go to argument.  We don't see any reason why you need any additional evidence right now that is available to you.


However, I think the real question is:  What is the decision you are being asked to make?  Mr. Stoll in his written submissions has said that ‑ correctly, I believe - your test here is correctness.  If the decision that he is impugning is correct, then you have nothing further to do. 


If it is incorrect, however, he says that the only thing you have to do is decide the timing of the new revenue requirement.  That's not correct.  The Board's mandate is to set just and reasonable rates.  In fact, Mr. Stoll in his grounds has made clear that his issue is that the Board did not set just and reasonable rates.


And, in fact, if you decide that the decision is not correct, then it is our submission that you must then decide just and reasonable rates.  You can't cherrypick and Mr. Stoll can't cherrypick and say, Well, we only want to look at this little part of the decision.  That's not correct.


The Board has only one mandate in rate cases, and that is to set just and reasonable rates.  In this case, if you are engaged in the second step - that is, you have decided that the first decision was incorrect - then the only thing you are allowed to do under the Act is to set just and reasonable rates.


Now, Mr. Stoll, I suppose, could argue, Well, that's fine, but the just and reasonable rates are as set out in the decision.  That's fine.  He can argue that, but he can't say that his ratepayers can't argue, No, the just and reasonable rates should be something else.


So what we think the appropriate thing here is ‑‑ and the key issue here is going to be affiliate transactions, because we have a utility here that has two employees, that pays all of its money to affiliates and has refused to file the affiliate financial statements so the Board can see what's going on there.


And so we think that the question of the affiliate payments arises first in the question of whether the original decision was correct; that is, this Board has open to it to say, We may not like the fact that there was an eight‑month delay in putting in these new rates, but it was open to Mr. Vlahos, who was the Board Panel then, to balance that against the various other factors, as this Board does when it sets rates.


So the Board could decide, We think that the decision was correct, not necessarily because the timing was right, but because it was a reasonable trade‑off against the various other things that were happening in the application.


Alternatively, the Board has open to it to say, We think the decision was incorrect, and then it is engaged to say, Well, then, what were the just and reasonable rates?  And in our submission, the parties then have open to them to say, You should consider not just what Mr. Vlahos considered, but other things, as well.


And, in fact, we would look, in fact, to the first decision, the one from April, I think, whenever it was, earlier in 2006, in which things like affiliate transactions were considered.


Those are our submissions.


MR. KAISER:  So let me just be clear.  With respect to the final decision, January 2nd, is there anything in that that deals with affiliate relations?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, there is not.


MR. KAISER:  And you say there is in the first decision.  Was it April 12th?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  That's at tab 1 of Mr. Stoll's materials?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.


MR. STOLL:  Yes.  In Part B, tab 1, yes.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, part B, tab 1.


So where is the ‑‑ Mr. Shepherd, where does this decision deal with affiliate relations?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me give you the quote.


MR. KAISER:  Oh, I see, "related‑party transactions" on page 4.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  And the key thing here is ‑‑ I'm just trying to find the quote, because what the Board said is, You haven't demonstrated ‑‑ oh, here it is, second paragraph:

"In this and similar situations, the Board is concerned that the applicant has not met the burden of proof in demonstrating the reasonableness of its costs."


And the Board then went on to give the applicant guidance in how it should do so.


MR. KAISER:  Now, this was an interim decision; is that right?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was.


MR. STOLL:  It was.


MR. KAISER:  So then the Board went on and issued a final decision, and there is nothing in there about related‑party transactions, you've said.  That's the decision that Mr. Stoll is appealing.


MR. STOLL:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  And so I'm having difficulty understanding your position, Mr. Shepherd.  What is it that entitles us to go back to the interim decision, which is replaced by a final decision ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, I'm not suggesting you go back to the interim decision, Mr. Chair.  Sorry, I've obviously not made myself clear.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What I'm saying is the interim decision demonstrates that affiliate transactions were relevant. Indeed, I mean, even if it didn't say that, the fact that virtually every penny of the revenue requirement is paid to affiliates probably makes it relevant.


What I'm saying is that that issue, the issue of affiliate transactions, necessarily remained live.  It had to be a material issue, and therefore the Board had to have considered it in making the final decision.  Otherwise you would be faced with the situation -- Mr. Stoll would have to be saying that the Board simply ignored a material fact, in which case the decision would be wrong anyway.


MR. KAISER:  The decision does say:

"This is not a finding that the costs are necessarily unreasonable; rather, the finding is that the applicants have not provided sufficient information to make that determination."  


We know that subsequent information was made available and the final decision was rendered in January.


Is your point, Mr. Shepherd, really about this question of whether the Board was penalizing the applicant?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, not at all.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  And let me go back for one brief minute.


MR. KAISER:  Here is my point.  There is no finding in the interim decision, the April 12th decision, with respect to 24 matter; there's no finding.  It just says there is insufficient information.  We then have a final decision.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.


MR. KAISER:  What factual matter are you asking us to address?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not asking you to address a factual matter.  There's a legal question as to whether this decision is correct, and, if so, what you should do about it.


MR. KAISER:  No, my point -- let's suppose for the sake of argument that we could considering related-party transactions even though it's not referred to in the final decision.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  What's the factual issue that we're supposed to consider?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's suppose, Mr. Chairman, that you that this Panel decides that the January decision was incorrect, and therefore you are engaged --


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- to make some other decision; right?  Because if you decide it was correct, none of this matters.


MR. KAISER:  Let's suppose we say it's incorrect.  Does that mean you can open up any aspect of the original decision, of the original case?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Our submission is, once you decide that, the law is clear; you have only one mandate in a rate case, and that is to set just and reasonable rates.


You do not have the jurisdiction to ignore material facts just because they were considered in a previous decision.  Once that decision is incorrect, you have to look at the question again.  Otherwise you would be faced with situations in which parties could come in and cherrypick the issues they wanted to discuss and say to you:  You can't look at the other balancing factors, sorry.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, but conversely, with respect to your point, anytime somebody came in asking a certain aspect, a narrow aspect of a decision be reviewed, and we said, yes, we'll review it because we find that's not correct, that opens up the entire case.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I think technically that's true.  I think that in practical terms that would rarely happen, because normally, when you take a narrow issue to a review, other things have already been discussed and reviewed at length in any case.  You don't have outstanding, for example, refusals to file information, and things like that.


And so people could come in and say, well, we want to talk about this again or that again, but it has already been discussed.  It would be hard for them to make any hay with that.


In this case it's different, because in this case there was no debate about this.


MR. KAISER:  Well, that's my problem; there is nothing in the decision, the final decision, which replaced the interim decision, that deals with this matter at all.  How is a review panel going to deal with something that's not even in the record?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is in the record subsequently, and what our position is going to be that you should decide that the decision was correct because it was a reasonable balancing of the various considerations before the Board.


However, we would say, if you decide it's not 

correct -–


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- then you must consider, is it fair to the ratepayers?  Is it just and reasonable to have them pay whatever is it, $8.9 million for 2006, when, for example, affiliate transactions went up 28 percent, and the company made money without the higher rates?


We think that those are relevant issues.


MR. KAISER:  Is that evidence that you just referred to in the record --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  -- in this proceeding?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, it is.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Shepherd, I must admit that this motion is as narrow of a framework as I've seen of late.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  It is specific to whether the revenue requirement should have been recovered effective some other date other than what the Board has decided.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  It doesn't deal with the specific issue of how the Board - at least the motion doesn't - how the Board has found on any other issue other than bad debt expense, which as I read the motion, I guess that will be explained later, is that, you know, the tariff sheets themselves did not reflect, you know, the Board's decision.  That's how I read the motion, and I can be corrected.


It's more of a correction, if you like, on the bad debt one.  But I'm open to hear other arguments.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't believe that's true, Mr. Vlahos.


MR. VLAHOS:  That's fine, so and I'm open to that.  But the bigger issue, you must admit, is the one of the retroactivity that the company is seeking, whether they should start to recover its revenue requirements in effect back to May 1st of 200... 


MR. SHEPHERD:  We have some submissions on that as well, Mr. Vlahos.


MR. VLAHOS:  I must tell you, I'm a little surprised to how you want to scope this.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Vlahos, maybe I could put this another way.  In essence, what Mr. Stoll is saying in this motion is that in May of 2006 and in June of 2006 and so on you did not allow us to charge just and reasonable rates, and you should have.  It was your obligation.  In fact, he said, in law you had to.


We're saying that's right.  In law you had to allow them to charge just and reasonable rates, and you did.  And if you didn't, the evidence is not before you to show that 8.9 million was just and reasonable rates in those months.


MR. VLAHOS:  So it's the framing, the phrasing of the relief in the motion, the “just and reasonable rates” that you are taking issue with.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not taking an issue with it.  Mr. Stoll is correct, that if your decision in January was not correct, then the only way that it can be not correct is if the rates you set were not just and reasonable.  If they were just and reasonable it's correct regardless of anything else.  And if they were not just and reasonable, then that's the issue this Board has to decide.


MS. SPOEL:  Are you saying, Mr. Shepherd, that every time -- I come back to the point made that any time you involve anything involving rates, that obviously -- I think your argument is that at the end of the day the issue with rates is are they just and reasonable.  So any time you re-open anything to do rates on a review, that you are going to necessarily have to re-open every aspect of the rates because you can't separate any one item out because you have to look at the entire package of in terms of are they just and reasonable.  So it's in effect a hearing at least of the argument de novo every single time you might want to review an aspect of a rates case?


MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am saying is, if -- here's the syllogism that I believe is true.  The Board statutory mandate in rate cases is to set just and reasonable rates.  This is a rate question that in a sense Mr. Stoll was asking in his application for a rate order that is different than existing rates.  Therefore, this is a syllogism:  In this decision, the Board must set just and reasonable rates.  I agree with you that as a practical matter, in most cases of narrow issues you don't have to look at other things.  They've been discussed already, they've been looked in detail.  You don't have to go through that balancing exercise in any great detail because it's there in front of you.  Here my friend is asking for a big change.  This is not a little adjustment to the rate schedule.  This is, I don't know, 20 percent of their revenue requirement.  And he's saying, But you must ignore every other factor that went into just and reasonable rates in doing so.


MS. SPOEL:  But let me push you on this.  If it works for a big change, in principle it would have to work for a small change as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Absolutely.


MS. SPOEL:  Then what we're saying is, if at any time anyone wants to do something to re-open rates, you would actually have to look at all the factors that went into it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, if the result is that if you're going to make a new rate order, then the statute says – and I am not saying what the statue says - the only thing you're allowed to do is to set just and reasonable rates,  And there is a whole body of law as to what you're allowed to do.  It seems to me that -- this is a sort of reductio ad absurdum argument, and I understand that you could have counsel come in and abuse that scope.  But that could happen with a lot of the Board's rules.


MS. SPOEL:  No, but I was trying to understand your argument this morning, which is that when it comes right down it, if you are going re-open or review -- I think that's our power --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MS. SPOEL:  -- to possibly amend, vary, suspend the decision or whatever, that if you're going to review a decision that involves rates, that the review panel has to take into account every item that went into setting the rates by the original panel.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I think it's fair to say that ‑‑


MS. SPOEL:  That it's all open.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I mean, there's obviously a materiality issue, but, yes, I think that's true.


MR. KAISER:  I think there is one additional problem with that.  If I understand now your position, if an applicant comes along on a review and it says, I appeal and want to question your finding with respect to cost A, you say somebody else can jump up and say, Well, just a minute, I want to question cost B, which is not raised by the applicant.


Here's the problem I have.  Let's assume, for the sake of argument, we agree with you.  The cost B issue, i.e., not being raised by the applicant but by the intervenors in this case, is something that in the decision under the review there's no finding on.  


So I don't know what decision we are reviewing with respect to this matter of third party interrelated, whatever it is, the affiliate transactions.  I see nothing in the decision that's being appealed from here that deals with it at all.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And our position, Mr. Chairman, is that necessarily there was a finding on affiliate transactions.  It's 95 percent of their revenue requirement.


MR. KAISER:  Well, how do you know, though?  It's not there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because if there was not a finding, then the rate order would not be valid.  The Board --


MR. KAISER:  Well, that's a different argument now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?


MR. KAISER:  That's a completely different argument, if you're arguing that we should be overturning this decision because it's invalid because it didn't make a finding with respect to affiliate transactions. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I'm not saying that.  I'm saying there is a finding.  Implicit in every decision are all the material facts before the Board.  Otherwise, the Board would be forced in their decision to deal with every single material fact regardless of whether it was contentious or not, because otherwise somebody later could say, Oh, there was no finding on that.


There was absolutely a finding on this.  The Board just didn't talk about it.


MR. KAISER:  Well, if they don't talk about it, how is there a finding?  A finding is a finding.  A finding has to be in the four corners of the decision.


Implicit findings, there may be thousands of them.  How would the judicial process work, where a review panel is questioned to deal with implicit findings which aren't even spelled out in the decision?  I don't follow it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I guess the difficulty I have with this, Mr. Chairman, is these payments represent, I don't know, 90, 95 percent of the revenue requirement.  The Board had to find the revenue requirement in order to make the decision. 


The Board was aware that most of these payments were paid to affiliates.  Therefore, I don't know how the Board could have found the revenue requirement without considering whether the affiliate payments were okay, or should be allowed.


MR. KAISER:  So you say it's implicit in the decision that they accepted the affiliate payments as being okay?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  They couldn't come to the result otherwise?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.


MR. VLAHOS:  And that's because, Mr. Shepherd, those decisions dealt by exception as to what are the issues that the Board had difficulty with?


MR. SHEPHERD:  You've actually said it better than I did.  Thank you.  That's true.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Stoll, sorry.  Is your microphone on? Maybe that ‑‑ 


MR. STOLL:  Oh, I think it is.  Sorry.


MR. VLAHOS:  That's better.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stoll, do you have anything in response?


MR. STOLL:  Just a couple of comments.  I think the way the Chairman has put it is quite correct.


We're reviewing a part of the decision.  That's what the rule specifies.  If Mr. Shepherd had had a problem with the underlying costs or the determination of the revenue requirement, he could have filed the motion to review that part of the decision.  


We didn't file a motion to review the revenue requirement.  We filed a motion to look at how that revenue requirement plays out in the implementation of the rates.  So we're very narrow on scope.


To us, the affiliate issue, the Board considered it.  They made their decision, and that's water under the bridge for all.


MR. KAISER:  What decision do you think they made?


MR. STOLL:  They said the costs, as filed in the model, were reasonable.  It went into the revenue requirement, into the model, and those costs are reasonable.


MR. KAISER:  So you agree with Mr. Shepherd there has been a decision by the Board with respect to the allowability, if I can call it that, of the affiliate payments?


MR. STOLL:  I think there has been, because the model incorporates those costs into it in the determination of the revenue requirement.  So to the extent that the revenue requirement is approved and the numbers are used in the model, I think there is an acceptance.  


Has the Board specifically made item‑by‑item findings?  I don't think they've done that, but we're not in the traditional rate‑making process of an Enbridge hearing where we're going through and testing on a forward test year.  We're looking at specific filings from the -- basically, the accounting, the trial balances, which are incorporated into a model.


MR. KAISER:  So let's leave aside the legal questions for a moment and see what the factual argument would be.


You want to argue about the allowability, if I can call it that, of these expenses, these other expenses.  What record would we look at for that?  Is there anything before us that deals with that, in the record before this Panel?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  There are answers to interrogatories.  There are ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  In this proceeding?


MR. SHEPHERD:  In this proceeding.  There are answers in the Technical Conference and in undertakings supplied after the Technical Conference that give you some of the story of the affiliate transactions.


MR. KAISER:  And that's what you would be relying on if we allowed you to argue that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MS. SPOEL:  So that would be new evidence that wasn't available to the panel who made the January 2nd decision?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  The Board's Procedural Order ordered a Technical Conference to bring in new evidence and ordered an interrogatories process, and we've ‑‑


MS. SPOEL:  I'm not questioning it, I'm just trying to clarify it.


MR. KAISER:  Do we have the interrogatories, Mr. Millar?  Are they filed as exhibits?


MR. MILLAR:  There were two sets of interrogatories, I believe.  I have copies of one set.  I'm not sure if that's the set that Mr. Shepherd needs.  Certainly both sets are on the record for this file, and we adopt the record from the original decision in --


MR. KAISER:  I thought these were new interrogatories as part of this Technical Conference.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, the interrogatories were part of the last go around.  The Technical Conference was the interrogatory process for this go around.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. Millar, do you have anything on this?


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I hadn't planned to make submissions on this, and irrespective of your decision on this, it won't change the submissions I was going to make.  I am going to be speaking to the retroactivity issue.


If I can be of any assistance, just perhaps to frame the issue, I think the issue is:  Is the review limited specifically to the specific grounds of the motion as set out by Mr. Stoll in his motion record?


Now, Mr. Stoll did raise the issue of just and reasonable rates.  I think he raised it in the context of the retroactivity order, but I think in Mr. Shepherd's view, once we get into just and reasonable rates, you have opened Pandora's box and you have to -- you're, in fact, required to consider everything that goes into just and reasonable rates.


I'm not actually going to make a submission on that, but I thought it might be helpful.  That's how I see what the issue is before the Board.


MR. KAISER:  Is there anything -- I'm just looking to you for guidance on this.  If a party such as Mr. Shepherd wanted the review panel to review some other aspect of the case, other than that that was in the application or motion filed by the applicant, are they required under the Rules to provide notice?  Are they required to make a cross‑motion, or does it just pop up at the day of the hearing?


MR. MILLAR:  Well, that's an interesting issue, Mr. Chair.  I won't speak for Mr. Shepherd.  I imagine in his view he is saying that Mr. Stoll, in fact, raised this by raising the issue of just and reasonable rates.  I suspect that's what he would say.  I guess another option --


MR. KAISER:  This is almost like a cross‑motion.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, Mr. Shepherd could have brought his own motion, I guess, perhaps, even if Mr. Stoll had no issues.  Any party can bring a motion to review the decision, if he felt that the affiliate relations weren't dealt with properly.


But I think, to answer your question, I'm not aware of any precedent on this issue.  I'm not aware of cross-reviews being brought for review on --


MR. KAISER:  But Mr. Shepherd could, under the rules, you're telling us, have brought a motion asking us to review at this time these particular expenses that he's concerned about?


MR. MILLAR:  Well, any party is entitled to bring a review motion under Rule 42 before the Board.


MR. STOLL:  42.03 requires that it be done within 20 days of the decision.  So there is a timing aspect to that, as well.


MR. KAISER:  I'm sorry, I can't hear you, Mr. Stoll.


MR. STOLL:  Sorry.  Rule 42.03 provides certain limitations.  You don't just get to sit and wait.  If you want to bring a motion, you have a certain amount of time, 20 calendar days, to bring that motion to review that part of the decision.


MR. KAISER:  They require leave, do they not, or not?  


MR. STOLL:  No.  Any person may bring a motion.


MR. KAISER:  No leave required?


MR. STOLL:  No leave required.  Then the Board may consider the threshold issue as part of the process.


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I don't think it was -- two things.  First of all, we didn't want to bring a motion after your decision because, to our mind, although we didn't necessarily agree with how it was dealt with, it was a fair balancing of the issues.  As long as you get the right answer, we shouldn't be wasting the Board's time.


Secondly, we think that once just and reasonable rates are engaged, they're engaged.  Otherwise we don't know how you could give Mr. Stoll the relief he wants, which is a rate order.


MR. KAISER:  Mm-hm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In order to do that, you have to set just and reasonable rates.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Shepherd, you keep talking about this balancing thing that is not explicit anywhere in the decision.  That is your interpretation as to how you saw the rates flowing out of this decision.  That's the balance you're speaking of; right?  


 The Board or the panel did not speak of a balance that, well, we've got this affiliate transactions, that 95 percent of the total revenue requirement, and you know what, we're not sure about whether this is legitimate amounts.  But in any event, on balance, we're going give them a later implementation date.  


That's what you're suggesting and that is nowhere in the decision.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not suggesting just that.  I'm suggesting that, for example, the size of the rate increase might have been a consideration as well.  It was a large rate increase.  There is any number of things that the Board considers in exercising its judgment.  It doesn't necessarily put all of them in the decision.


As many Board Members have said in the past, what you do up there is an art, not a science.  You are not doing math.  You are coming to a reasonable balancing of interests.  There is much law on that.


MR. KAISER:  Can it be said a little bit differently:  That if the issue is whether the rate increase should take place on date 1 or date 2, all you want to do is argue there are reasons why the Board didn't let the rate increase take place at the earlier date, and you're arguing those?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I would actually go a step further.  I would say whether or not that was the reason why the Board did that, that is a reasonable justification for the Board today to say we're not going to tamper with it because the end result is not a bad one anyway.


MR. KAISER:  Can we put it this way, that you're really not asking us at this point - tell me if I have this right - to make a judgment about the amount of affiliate transactions which were appropriately allowed, but rather to consider that factor in making a decision with respect to the date on which the rate increase should take effect.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Absolutely.


MR. VLAHOS:  It’s only argument, then, Mr. Shepherd, you're suggesting; it is not cross-examination on the evidence filed in the previous case where the rates were set final --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Not at all.


MR. VLAHOS:  -- or interrogatories that may have come out of this motion process?


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are exactly right.  I want to be able to say to the Board today, in argument - I wasn't expecting any evidence today - I want to be able to say to Board in argument:  When you're considering what's fair -- because, remember, this application at its essence is saying what you did wasn't fair.  And what I want to be able to say is when you're considering what's fair, here are some other things you should have in mind.  One of them is affiliate transactions.  One of them is the size of the rate increase.  One is their rates relative to other utilities', et cetera.  Those are things that you should balance in the mix.


MR. KAISER:  Do you have any problem with that, Mr. Stoll?


MR. STOLL:  The only problem, I guess, I see with Mr. Shepherd's point is he wants to argue some of these other factors.  And I don't see that they become an issue that we look at where the --


MR. KAISER:  Why isn't he entitled to argue whatever he wants as to why the rate increase should take place on date 1 as opposed to date 2?  It's just argument.


MR. STOLL:  If that's the way he wants to argue it, that's fine.  I can make my submissions regardless.  That's fine.


MR. VLAHOS:  He can argue like you shouldn't get any costs, for example.  If we find that this is totally out of -- Mr. Shepherd, you don't have to respond to that one.


MR. STOLL:  Purely hypothetical.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd always gets around to costs.  Gentlemen, I think we've clarified that.  Let's move on.


MR. STOLL:  Okay.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, Mr. Stoll and Mr. Shepherd and I spoke very briefly before.  As you are aware, Mr. Stoll has filed a fairly voluminous prefiled submissions and cases and whatnot.  I think it's his intention to provide a brief overview of his submission rather than reading through the whole thing because you've already received it, of course.  And then I guess Mr. Shepherd and I will make our arguments and Mr. Stoll will be entitled to his reply.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stoll.


MR. STOLL:  Mr. Millar is correct, I don't intend on going through the whole motion material.  


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. STOLL:

MR. STOLL:  I would like to just draw the Board's attention to a few items.  This originally started back in September of '05 with the original filing, and the Board, rightly, a week later, said, there are some issues.  We list the number of items in their letter of September 13.  We noticed some things you missed.  One of them is the financial statements.  Then there are a number of schedules.  And the reason for the schedules -- basically, a lot of that information was pretty close to what was in the worksheet.  The utility didn't see a need to repeat the information.  So it was a bit of a misunderstanding there.


MR. VLAHOS:  Could I ask you to repeat that, Mr. Stoll?  I'm not sure what you mean.  The final audited financial statements, they were consistent with the non-audited?  Is that --


MR. STOLL:  The final audited statements were consistent with the notice to reader statements.


MR. VLAHOS:  Which were filed as part of the original application; is that what you're saying?


MR. STOLL:  Through that original process in September and October of '05.


MR. VLAHOS:  Is that an issue that in your view has to be weighed?


MR. STOLL:  I think it just provides some context to this contention around what the Board was considering and the issue of whether the Erie Thames was withholding information or trying not to bring information forward, and that they were solely responsible for the delay.


On November 2 of '05 there's a letter from the Board that clearly states, and I will quote, and this is a letter from --


MR. KAISER:  Is that in the record, Mr. Stoll?


MR. STOLL:  It is part of the record.


MR. KAISER:  Can we have copies of it?


MR. MILLAR:  This is on the record, Mr. Chair.  Board Staff had prepared a number of letters that we were going to refer to.  I don't think that's one of them.  But Ms. Dougan, I believe, had a complete set of the materials, and perhaps she can bring up at least one copy of this letter.
Unless, Mr. Stoll, you don't have additional copies, do you?


MR. STOLL:  I don't have additional copies with me, no.


In the opening words of the letter:

"This will a acknowledge receipt, on October 28, 2005, of your completed application for electricity distribution rates."


At that point the utility feels its application is complete.  And I think from setting the context -- and the issue of audited financial statements came up again during the interrogatory process.  There was a slight delay through some communication problems.  The Board ended up making a Procedural Order for a filing at the end of January rather than the timing along with the rest of the utilities.


The Board put the question to the applicant:

"The financial statements which ETPL submitted are not audited statements.  Please provide its audited financial statements with cash flow and note if they are available, and, if not, please explain."


The utility said, we do not have stand-alone audited.  The corporation does have consolidated audited statements annually prepared -- sorry.  I'll go back:

"ETPL does not have stand-alone audited financial statements.  The corporation does have consolidated audited statements annually.  In order to prepare these consolidated statements, ETPL is subject to extensive scrutiny, as it the largest entity within the corporation.  ETPL has included a copy of these audited consolidated statements for your information."


So it's not an unwillingness.  They didn't have it.


MR. KAISER:  Give me the dates again.  When was the date for the request for the statement and when was the response?


MR. STOLL:  This was during the interrogatory process.


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MR. STOLL:  The first one in January of 2006.  The response was filed January 31, 2006, as per the Board order.  And we have various Procedural Orders floating around in this, because there was a --


MR. KAISER:  So let me understand.  You 

get this letter on November 2, which you've now given us a copy of.  Can we mark this as an exhibit, Mr. Millar? 


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  We'll call it K1, and that's the letter dated -- 


MR. KAISER:  November 2.


MR. MILLAR:  -- November 2, 2005, I believe.


EXHIBIT NO. K1:  LETTER DATED NOVEMBER 2, 2005

MR. KAISER:  And you say, Mr. Stoll, this indicated to your client that the application had been accepted?


MR. STOLL:  Exactly, that the information ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  That's how you read it.  And then you get a letter or some kind of communication in January of 2006, a couple of months later, asking for audited financial statements?


MR. STOLL:  If they're available.


MR. KAISER:  Nothing between November 2nd and January 2nd?


MR. STOLL:  No.  No.  And the second question was part of the interrogatory process the Board had set up.  As I indicated, there was a slight delay from --


MR. KAISER:  And so then you respond a month later, or less than a month later?


MR. STOLL:  Less than a month later.


MR. KAISER:  Okay.


MR. STOLL:  And say, This is the information we have.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. STOLL:  Again, we go into silence until the April 12th decision.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Stoll, just to make sure I understand this.  When you received this letter from the Board Secretary, then, this was assurance, I guess, to your client that they did not have to satisfy the requirements of the Handbook?


MR. STOLL:  Yes, I would take it at that, that they had ‑‑ if they had been told ‑‑ I guess I'll phrase it in the contrary.


If they had been told at that point that, Your application is incomplete until you file consolidated ‑‑ or until you file audited financials for the wires company, they would have turned around and got on the phone to Mr. Martindale and said, Get down here and complete these forms.


They took it as an assurance that it was acceptable.


MR. VLAHOS:  In a lot of cases, the Board's decision finds a number of areas where there may not have been compliance with the Handbook and, therefore, that sort of a basis ‑‑ that is a basis for a bunch of decisions that flow from those so‑called inconsistencies with the Handbook.


So it was your expectation -- your client's expectation, then, that this letter of November 2nd would itemize not only in the case of your client, but in all the cases would itemize all of the matters that had not been consistent with the Handbook?


MR. STOLL:  Not necessarily all the ‑‑ all the information that was expected to be submitted and hadn't been.


If you look at the September 13th, 2005, letter, there's a list of 20‑odd items.  Most of them are the schedules, repeating what was in the work sheets, saying, No, you haven't submitted the right information.  Go back, do it again.  Otherwise, we're not going to process your application.


MR. KAISER:  September 13th, is that '05?


MR. STOLL:  '05.


MR. KAISER:  Before the November 2nd?


MR. STOLL:  Right.  So you've said, It's deficient.  In October you said, You're missing two items, which weren't identified on our previous letter when you 

respond ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  You're skipping over things.


MR. STOLL:  Sorry.


MR. KAISER:  Before this November 2nd letter, there was earlier correspondence pointing out deficiencies?


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  And did you respond to those deficiencies?


MR. STOLL:  We supplied information, and if you look at KT1...


MR. KAISER:  That's the November 2nd letter?


MR. STOLL:  No.  KT1 was from the Tech Conference.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Let's get a copy of this.


MR. STOLL:  And it was a time line.


MR. KAISER:  What's the date of this, KT1?


MR. STOLL:  KT1 was a summary of the time line prepared by Erie Thames for the Technical Conference.


MR. KAISER:  Oh.


MR. STOLL:  Okay?  And it outlines the chronology of events with respect to our interaction with the Board.


MR. KAISER:  Okay.


MR. STOLL:  Okay.  So, on September 6, the initial filing.  September 13 is the response with the itemized list of deficiencies.  There's the response on October 12 providing information.  October 21st, there's a subsequent letter from the Board identifying two deficiencies that weren't mentioned in the first letter.


Then there's the refiling of the required information. Then on November 2nd the Board says, Your application is complete.


So I think, given the type of scrutiny that's gone on, the reasonable expectation of my client is he's got a complete application and it will be processed on the information that's there.


MR. KAISER:  And the letter of direction the following day, I presume, told you to publish the notice?


MR. STOLL:  Exactly.


MR. KAISER:  And other things.


MR. STOLL:  Exactly.  And so there is confirmation that was published on November 15th.  The Board Staff interrogatories were received on January 11th, 2006.  There is a Procedural Order issued on January 13th and directing responses to the interrogatories by January 31st.


Erie Thames submitted its responses by January 31st.  The next step was the interim decision.


MR. KAISER:  So where in this did the question of the lack of audited financial statements first surface?


MR. STOLL:  The question was posed as part of the interrogatories.


MR. KAISER:  January 11th?


MR. STOLL:  January 11th.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MS. SPOEL:  And that ‑‑ I don't have it in front of me. That interrogatory said what, exactly?


MR. STOLL:  And I can go back.  I'll read it:

"The financial statements which ETPL submitted are not audited financial statements.  Please provide its audited financial statements, with cash flow statements and notes, if they are available, and, if not, please explain the reasons."


MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  


MR. KAISER:  And so you respond to that on July 7th?


MR. STOLL:  That was part of the interrogatories, so it was January 31st was the response date to the ‑‑ that was an interrogatory from ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Oh.


MR. STOLL:  ‑‑ January 11th.  The response was January 31st.


MR. KAISER:  What's this filing of audited statements 2002 to 2005 -- 


MR. STOLL:  That comes from the interim decision, which said, We don't accept your application as complete, because the audited financial statements were 

consolidated --


MR. KAISER:  Oh.


MR. STOLL:  Not for the wires co.


MR. KAISER:  Mm‑hm.


MR. STOLL:  So at that time ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Is that the first time you were aware that the Board was not going to accept consolidated statements?


MR. STOLL:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  And that date again was what?


MR. STOLL:  April 12th.


MR. KAISER:  The date of the decision?


MR. STOLL:  The date of this decision.


MR. KAISER:  Right, yes.


MR. STOLL:  So -- and the Board provided a time frame of 90 days to prepare and file audited statements.  The Board also provided direction to file or resubmit the application within 120 days.


So on July 7th, about 88 or 80 ‑‑ in the high eighties days after the decision, the interim decision, Erie Thames filed the audited statements for the wires co., and then it refiled the application on August 11, within the 120 days.


And I think through this process, Erie Thames has no expectation that the revenue is at risk; that every day of a delay poses a risk to their ability to recover.


After the submission ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, is it your position that had the company known that there may be a consequence, they could have acted faster, and, if so, how much faster?


MR. STOLL:  If they knew in April, how much faster, or if they knew in November?


MR. VLAHOS:  Well, the Board told the company on 

April --


MR. STOLL:  12th.


MR. VLAHOS:  -- 12th, in its interim rate order, that it needs the audited financial statements for the utility.


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  And those financial statements were ‑‑ audited, were prepared and filed when, again?


MR. STOLL:  July 7th.


MR. VLAHOS:  July 7th.  July 7th, okay.


MR. STOLL:  Right.


MR. VLAHOS:  So how many days is that?  Sorry.


MR. STOLL:  I think it's around 85.


MR. VLAHOS:  Eighty-five days, okay.  So is this the ‑‑ I guess what I'm looking for, what was the sort of the ‑‑ you told us about the company's expectation, you know, that there is no loss here, we still are going to recover our revenue requirement going ‑‑


MR. STOLL:  Provided we complied with timing and the information.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  So presumably, I guess, theoretically, that information could have been filed yesterday, and the expectation would be the same?


MR. STOLL:  No.


MR. KAISER:  No, they would have missed the 90 days.


MR. STOLL:  We would have missed the 90 days.


MR. VLAHOS:  The 90 days.  So you were within the 90 days.


MR. STOLL:  We were within the 90 days, so...


MR. KAISER:  Can I ask you something?  In previous applications, did this matter, the requirement to file audited statements for the wires company only ever arise? Is this something new?  



MR. STOLL:  The past practice has been that the Board has accepted the consolidated statements, that they hadn't required individually prepared statements for the wires co.  


MR. KAISER:  Is it fair to say this is a new requirement?  It didn't come up in previous years?


MR. STOLL:  It hadn't been required of them to file the individual.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Is that right, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  I'll get to my argument when it's my turn, but --


MR. KAISER:  This is just a factual question.  In past applications did the Board require separate audited statements for the wires company or not?


MR. MILLAR:  I think there may have been a requirement.  As Mr. Stoll’s explanation, that they've never actually prepared stand-alone for the wires company so presumably the Board must have accepted that if that... but I don't actually have those facts in front of me right now. 


MR. KAISER:  The requirement for audited financial statements for a wires company alone, is that enshrined in some document guideline or handbook?


MR. MILLAR:  It's part of the EDR Handbook.


MR. KAISER:  It's part of the Handbook?


MR. MILLAR:  Right.


MR. STOLL:  It is part of the Handbook, and they didn't come to the Board and say:  Is this acceptable?  They basically stayed with their practice.


MR. KAISER:  Here's my question.  The Handbook has this requirement.


MR. STOLL:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Did the Handbook have the requirement the previous year when the Board didn't require separate audited financials or not, or has something changed here?  The Board accepted your filing the year before.


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  When you only had consolidated audited statements.


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  But not this year.


MR. STOLL:  That's right.


MR. KAISER:  Did anything change in the Handbook from year 1 to year 2?


MR. STOLL:  My understanding is the Handbook did change through this.


MR. KAISER:  This was a new requirement.


MR. STOLL:  That they were going to ask for -- yes.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Is that right?  It's a new requirement, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, there was no Handbook before 2000.


MR. KAISER:  There wasn't?


MR. MILLAR:  No.  The Handbook is new for 2006 EDRs.


MR. STOLL:  I guess if you're looking at prior rate applications, it wasn't a requirement.  But the consolidateds were used when the regulatory asset process was utilized by the Board and the determination was made on that.


The Board had used the consolidated statements on prior occasions.


MR. VLAHOS:  Am I right that the first 2006 rates is the first cost-of-service proceeding?  The other proceedings in prior years, there were adjustments pursuant to some passthroughs, if you like?


MR. STOLL:  It's much more formulaic.


MR. VLAHOS:  So this was the first opportunity for a cost-of-service review, and the Board issued that Handbook that specified as to what would be acceptable to the Board?


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  Okay.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, are all utilities treated the same in this year that we're speaking of?  There was a requirement that they all file audited statements for the wires company alone?


MR. MILLAR:  The Handbook applies to all utilities, Mr. Chair, so, yes, I think that's right.


MR. KAISER:  Or it was enforced equally against -- all right, is this the only company in the whole batch of 87 that didn't have audited statements for the wires company alone?


MR. MILLAR:  I can't say with a hundred percent certainty, Mr. Chair, but this is the only instance we're aware of where a utility filed consolidated rather than financials for the stand-alone wires company.


MR. KAISER:  Can you check Toronto Hydro for us?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I can, Mr. Chair.


MR. STOLL:  But, with respect to the application, I think one of the aspects that we made mention of is, the Handbook also said, base year, it's Tier 1, Tier 2, if you don't do those, you have to do a forward test year.  Our understanding in the Enersource Hydro Mississauga case, they requested a judgment outside the scope of Tier 1 or Tier 2.  We're not asked to do a forward test year, and we were granted the relief eventually they sought through a review motion.  I see in the case Mr. Millar referred to me last night, Espanola deviated from the Handbook in setting the revenue requirement.  Again, the application was processed through.


Although the Handbook did require it and was explicit, and if we had lived by the rule of the letter in November of 2005, my client would have responded differently than they did.  There was no intent to withhold information.  They just didn't feel there was a need to go back and audit information.  They can go back and do an audit for three years prior if the Board was willing to accept the information that had been provided.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Stoll, what do you want the Board to  take out of this comparison with Espanola?  Because if you're going to rely on this, I think it's important for the Board too have that decision and understand the full circumstances behind Espanola.


MR. STOLL:  To the extent that all the blame was laid at the client, at my client's feet for the delay -- I think they can accept some responsibility for a part of the delay.  At its highest, I think, a couple months.  Because if they had been told on November 2nd, No, the Handbook's clear, get this information in, they could have prior to the end of January completed the audit; resubmitted the application; and been back on track similar to the other case my friend took me to, which was St. Thomas, where they had filed by the end of January.  They got a rate order, a final rate order by June 15th.


To the extent that there were some delays, my client acknowledges that.  They do bear some of the responsibility.


However, given the exchange in the context, they don't feel it's fair that they should bear the entire burden of that.


MR. KAISER:  Am I right that in your initial filing you didn't provide any audited statements?


MR. STOLL:  No, they provided the notice to reader statements.


MR. KAISER:  So is the answer yes, you didn't provide any audited statements?


MR. STOLL:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  Notwithstanding the fact that the Handbook said:  File audited statements, you didn't file any audited consolidated for wires only?


MR. STOLL:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  Okay.


MR. STOLL:  Coming back to the chronology of events, the audited financials that were filed did not change in any significant manner from the information that had already been provided to the Board.  Erie Thames, when they resubmitted, they weren't aware that they were going to have to go through another round of interrogatories.


Through October/November, they go through the interrogatories.  They respond.  And then the final rate order comes out on January 2nd, 2007.


That order says that the revenue requirement is X, and we don't take issue with what the stated revenue requirement is.


That revenue requirement is used to generate unit rates, which are developed by the model to be charged over 12 months on an equal basis.  That final decision said you only get to charge those rates for the last four months of the year.  You have to live with the interim rates for the first eight months.  


And at that point, my client realized that their revenue was in jeopardy.  That was the first point where they truly became aware that the revenue was in peril.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Stoll, sorry, did the company file for 2007?  I want to make sure I understand what has finally happened with those rates.  The company has filed ‑‑ has received an order for 2007?


MR. STOLL:  For 2007 they filed and received approval, correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  So that would be an adjustment to the existing rates; right?


MR. STOLL:  What we're seeking?


MR. VLAHOS:  No, no, the 2007 rate order.


MR. STOLL:  Commences May 1.


MR. VLAHOS:  Commences May 1.


MR. STOLL:  Going ahead.  So they're not in effect yet.


MR. VLAHOS:  Correct, but the order is out; right?


MR. STOLL:  The order is out.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  And that order, that percentage change on the rates, what base does it use?  Does it use the existing rates or does it back out the ‑‑


MR. STOLL:  My understanding is it used the rates that were approved in the final decision, the January 2nd decision.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.


MR. STOLL:  Right, for the adjustment.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.


MR. STOLL:  Okay.  We don't take issue that the Board has an ability to set the interim rates, and those interim rates are set and they may not be, in hindsight, what would be considered the right rate -‑ and I don't want to get into "just and reasonable", because they're just and reasonable at the time they're made on the basis that they are interim -- that the impact of those can be taken into account and provided for in the making of the final order.


And this is where we have the issue with the final decision, in that the implementation of the final decision created a revenue shortfall in excess of $1.3 million on a revenue requirement of approximately $8 million.  That's a huge hit for any utility, 17 percent of the revenue.  That's a large shortfall.


So on the fact that the final decision didn't say ‑‑ and we outlined certain options it could ‑‑ the Board, because it was an interim order, could have said, These rates are effective May 1, 2006.  That would have created some issues for the ratepayers, and we understand that.


The Board could have said, We'll adjust the rates for the four months going ahead to account for the revenue shortfall over the previous eight months.


The Board could say, We're going to use a rate rider to allow you to collect the revenue shortfall.


And I guess, fundamentally, Erie Thames' position is there was a revenue requirement that was determined.  It has an expectation that it will be allowed to recover through rates that revenue requirement.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Stoll, you would, you would, over a 12-month period on an annualized basis.


MR. STOLL:  Exactly.


MR. VLAHOS:  Your issue is that it has not recovered that amount in that specific year, 2006?


MR. STOLL:  My client would have been happy to say -- if the Board had said on January 2nd, This is going to have a million‑dollar impact, that's very significant.  You shouldn't be allowed to recover that over four months.  We're going to space it out over a one- or two-month ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  I'm sorry, I understand that argument, but my proposition to you, that once the rates are set at a level that is just and reasonable, then they're just and reasonable going forward; correct?  


Your issue is that the striking of those rates has not allowed the company to recover its revenue requirement for a specific year; that is, 2006?


MR. STOLL:  The revenue shortfall is for eight months of 2006.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  Correct.


MR. STOLL:  Right.  So this is the only proceeding where they have an ability to establish the connection between the revenue requirement and their ability to actually collect that revenue requirement.


If in a different circumstance the Board had said, The revenue requirement is 10 million, but we're only going to base rates on 8, or, your annualized rates are 10 cents a kilowatt, but, you know, we don't want to charge for a particular month, like, there would be no question that that wouldn't be permitted.


In this case, the interim order puts everybody on notice these rates aren't final.  Everybody at that point knows the transactions that are being done underneath that rate order are subject to adjustment.


MR. KAISER:  Well, your expectation was, you're saying, that once the rates were made final, determined finally, they would become effective the date of the interim order?


MR. STOLL:  That was certainly one possible expectation, yes.


MR. KAISER:  That's one of the reasons why we create interim rates.


MR. STOLL:  Exactly.  Exactly.


MR. KAISER:  Except for special circumstances, and when we get down to the bottom of this argument, as I understand reading your brief, in the ordinary course we should be entitled to make those rates effective the date of the interim order, to go back to the date of the interim order.


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  But you're penalizing us for being late with our financial statements and whatnot, and that that penalty is not proper in law?


MR. STOLL:  Right.


MR. KAISER:  Am I getting to the bottom of this?


MR. STOLL:  Yes, you are.


MR. KAISER:  And I also read you said there is some authority that in a rate case you can't alter rates or recovery of rates; you can't put a penalty in in that form?


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  And where is it in this material, in the decision, that you say the original panel did this in the nature of a penalty?


MR. STOLL:  Because they held the applicant solely responsible for the delay, and put the whole risk at the feet of Erie Thames.


MR. KAISER:  Well, that's the crux of it.  Where is it, what page of the original?  Page 5?


MR. STOLL:  Which are you referring to?


MR. KAISER:  Where do they say it's a penalty?


MR. STOLL:  Continue over on page 7, as well.


MR. KAISER:  Page 7?  That goes to page 6.


MR. STOLL:  Which tab?


MS. SPOEL:  The final decision?


MR. STOLL:  Sorry.


MS. SPOEL:  In the final decision, it says it's not retroactive.


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MS. SPOEL:  So that's tab 2.


MR. STOLL:  Yes.  Sorry.  I was referring to the submissions that I had made.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  So you say the penalty was:

"This delay was within the control of management and therefore there is no jurisdiction of the Board to not follow its general policy of not granting retroactive rate increases."


It wouldn't be a retroactive rate increase if it went back to the date of an interim order --


MR. STOLL:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  -- anyway.


MR. STOLL:  Exactly.


MR. KAISER:  Aside from this language, you say in the ordinary course you should be entitled to make that rate increase effective the date of the interim order?


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  And this said, No, that's not allowable because this -- the delay was your responsibility.  So all of this that we've gone through here for the last hour is to the point as to whether the delay was totally within the control of management?


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  Your responsibility? 

MR. STOLL:  Exactly.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Stoll, you spoke about the expectation of the company, and I'm just noticing that on page 6, where the Board makes certain orders following its decision, and that's in paragraph 3: 

"Erie Thames shall notify its customers of the rate changes no later than the first bill reflecting the new rates."


I just wonder, the notice itself, did it speak of that eventuality to the customer so the customer would be expecting some kind of an adjustment, I guess?  Do you know?  Can you get some advice from your --


MR. STOLL:  I would have to confer with my client about that.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.


MR. STOLL:   So I'm clear, the notice, my understanding is that it would reflect the final decision.


MR. VLAHOS:  The rate schedule would be the one approved by the Board.


MR. STOLL:  Right.  That says it's effective 

January 1.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  And we expect the company - that's not just your client, every company - with the first bill that reflects the new rates, to explain to the customer the source of the change, the impact.  Would you mind if we filed that with the Board?


MR. STOLL:  I don't see that as a problem.


Can we mark that as an undertaking, just to be clear?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I think that's appropriate, Mr. Stoll.  We'll call it Undertaking J1.  Could one of you please summarize for the record what the undertaking is.


UNDERTAKING NO. J1:  TO PROVIDE A TYPICAL LETTER TO 


RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMERS PURSUANT TO BOARD DECISION


MR. VLAHOS:  I guess it’s my undertaking, Mr. Millar, I'll try it again.


It is for the company to submit a typical letter to a customer, let's say a residential customer, that would have gone to that customer pursuant to the Board's order of January 2nd, 2007.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay?


MR. STOLL:  Right.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Stoll, just again to make sure, you don't ground the relief on any financial integrity as such?  I mean financial integrity in the regulatory meaning, that the company does not have money to pay its employees or --


MR. STOLL:  No, it's not distressed to that extent, no.


MR. VLAHOS:  No.


MR. STOLL:  In the response to a couple of the undertakings that were given at the Technical Conference, we did provide copies of the wires co. financial statements.  If one looks at the income level for the utility, it certainly isn't where most people would like it to be from the shareholder perspective.  It's very small.   


MR. KAISER:  Who is the shareholder here?


MR. STOLL:  The shareholders are a number of communities.  Actually, this is in the evidence, but it might help the Board just to... if I may.  


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, would you like a separate exhibit number given for that?  I think it's on the original record, but perhaps we should give it one.  We will call it Exhibit K2.  It is the Erie Thames corporate structure.


EXHIBIT K2:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "ERIE THAMES 

CORPORATE STRUCTURE"


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Stoll, to clarify a further point.  When you were engaged in discussion with the Chair a few minutes ago about whether this is a retroactive rate increase or not, and you've agreed with the Chair that it is not retroactive, you talked in legal terms; right?  Not in the everyday use of the word that we do go back to an effective date that is different from an implementation date.


MR. STOLL:  Correct.  The average man on the street may have a different interpretation of "retroactivity."


MR. VLAHOS:  You responded in the legal sense?


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.


MR. STOLL:  And I guess, just a little bit more, a second page, to provide a little more context, because this is a map of the various communities.


MR. STOLL:  That Erie Thames services.


MR. MILLAR:  We'll call that Exhibit K3, Mr. Chair, a map of the communities served by Erie Thames.


EXHIBIT NO. K3:  MAP OF ERIE THAMES SERVICES

MR. KAISER:  How many subscribers, Mr. Stoll?  It's probably in the record.


MR. STOLL:  How many customers?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. STOLL:  Approximately 13,000.


MR. STOLL:  I can check the record and provide that, if you like.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Stoll, if you can tell us, at this stage what would be the impact on a typical residential customer if the Board were inclined to provide that relief that you are seeking, the $1.3 million, or whatever it is, 1.4?


MR. STOLL:  Board Staff at the Technical Conference provided a number of different options.  We were looking at like a two-year recovery period.


MR. VLAHOS:  I'm sorry, just give me the amount.


MR. STOLL:  Two and a half percent of the total.


MR. VLAHOS:  So it would just take the $1.4 million divided by 13,000 customers?  I'm looking for the residential impact, actually.


MR. STOLL:  Oh, a dollar?


MR. VLAHOS:  A dollar, yes.


MR. STOLL:  If I might, I have a person here with a computer who can do the dollar impact.  I would say it's about $100, just by 13,000, 1.3 million.


MR. VLAHOS:  I wasn't sure of what the mix was of residential versus other.


MR. STOLL:  About $106.


MR. VLAHOS:  So it's about $106?


MR. STOLL:  If we assume everybody is residential.


MR. VLAHOS:  I understand.


MR. KAISER:  Are you finished, Mr. Stoll?


MR. STOLL:  I think that does it for me in-chief.


MR. KAISER:  Why don't we take the morning break.  We'll come back in 15 minutes.


--- Break taken at 10:50 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:12 a.m.


MR. VLAHOS:  So, Mr. Stoll, before we commence, could I expand on this undertaking to also provide a typical letter to a general service customer; you know, the local barbershop or variety store?


MR. STOLL:  Certainly.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stoll, before we go to Mr. Shepherd, you said this money that we're talking about, $106 per customer, you're looking for recovery over two years?


MR. STOLL:  Yes, we were.  And, actually, during the break, I had Mr. Pettit run some numbers based on cost allocation ‑‑ if we allocated similar to the way the existing costs are.  And the residential impact was just under $48 - $47.75 - for the residential.  There would obviously be ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  So not the 106?


MR. STOLL:  No, that was an assumption of the average customer impact, on a ballpark.  So if we allocated to each of the classes, the residential ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  So over 24 months, that's what, two dollars or something, roughly?


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  All right, thank you.  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I think Mr. Millar will precede me, if that's okay with you.


MR. KAISER:  Certainly.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Chair.  Before I begin, I would like to respond to a question that was asked by the Board related to Toronto Hydro.  I made some inquiries with the case manager who worked on that file, and he has confirmed that the Board did receive audited financial statements from the wires company, Toronto Hydro-Electric Services Limited, for 2002 through 2004.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Millar, sorry, just to clarify, even if Toronto Hydro did not file those statements, am I correct that they filed on a future ‑‑ on a forward test year basis and, therefore, it was their application ‑‑ they did not follow the Handbook; didn't have to?


MR. MILLAR:  I think that's right, Mr. Chair ‑‑ pardon me, Mr. Vlahos.  I can't recall ‑‑ I know Mr. Kaiser was on that panel, but there was a bit of a dispute at the beginning about the extent to which the Handbook applied for future test years, and I can't actually remember what the outcome of that was, but you're quite right it was not a historic test year.  It was a future test year, so certainly there would be changes from that Handbook in that application.


But, again, they did file the audited financial statements for the stand-alone wires company in that case.


MR. KAISER:  And can I -- Mr. Stoll, one piece of information I just want to ‑‑ I'm looking at ‑‑ I can't remember what exhibit we gave your chronology.  It says KT1.  I guess that's an exhibit number.


The first deficiency letter, can you point that to me again?


MR. STOLL:  The first deficiency letter?


MR. KAISER:  Is it September 13th?  That was before you got what you call the okay letter of November 2nd.  Was the first deficiency letter September 13th?


MR. STOLL:  Yes, it was.


MR. KAISER:  And then you filed the missing information?


MR. STOLL:  Right.


MR. KAISER:  So in the first deficiency letter ‑ I'm using that term advisedly ‑ there was no mention of the audited financial statement; is that correct?


MR. STOLL:  Yes, there was.


MR. KAISER:  Oh, there was?


MR. STOLL:  In that deficiency letter it said item 2, schedule 2.3, audited financial statements and reconciliations.


MR. KAISER:  So they requested that back on September 13th and you did not file that on October 12th?


MR. STOLL:  The auditeds were not provided.  The notice to reader information was provided.


MR. KAISER:  You didn't provide ‑‑ you had the audited consolidated at the time, but you chose not to file it; is that right?


MR. STOLL:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  So why was that?  Why wouldn't you have at least given them the consolidated?


MR. STOLL:  I'm not sure what the rationale was at that point.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  So just on this, you get a deficiency notice right out of the box on September 13th.  They want the audited statements.  I presume it said for the wires company, did it?  Did it make that clear?


MR. STOLL:  It's not 100 percent clear.  It just says, "Schedule 2, audited financial statements and reconciliations."


MR. KAISER:  Okay.  You filed the material on October 12th, so less than a month later.  And is the next time you hear about audited statements not until you hear about these interrogatories in January?


MR. STOLL:  That's correct.  There was the intervening letter from the Board that listed two other items that were deficient.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  So let me understand this.  On October 12th, you file the information in response to the initial deficiency letter of September 13th.


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  You get a response from the Board of October 21st --


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  -- identifying two additional matters?


MR. STOLL:  Two additional matters.


MR. KAISER:  But no reference to fact that you didn't file audited financial ‑‑ the right audited financial statements?


MR. STOLL:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  Or, in fact, any audited financial statements?


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  All right, thank you.  Mr. Shepherd.  Sorry, Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  That's okay.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Chair, I'm going to be referring to a number of documents.  I think you have most of them in front of you right now, but maybe I'll ask Ms. Dougan to hand up some more documents, which I've already provided to my friends.


I have copies of three documents:  A copy of portions of the Handbook; the letter of September 13th that's already been referred to; and a copy of the interrogatories, Board Staff interrogatories, I believe filed January 11th, 2006. 


I also plan to briefly reference three cases.  I don't actually plan to say very much about them, but these cases are the Espanola decision, the Kashechewan decision and the St. Thomas decision.  Perhaps ‑‑ those have already been provided to my friends, but perhaps Ms. Dougan could bring them up to you.


MR. KAISER:  Do you have the October 21st letter?


MR. MILLAR:  We may have a copy of that, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  This is the one that responded to their filing that came in response to your letter of September 13th.


MR. MILLAR:  Ms. Dougan has a complete collection, I believe, of the letter, so after she has handed this out, I'll see if we can pull that up for you.


MR. KAISER:  While she's doing that, let's mark September 13th.  What number is that?


MR. MILLAR:  The letter dated September 13th we'll call K4.  The EDR Handbook, an extract, we will call K5, and the Board Staff interrogatories with responses -- I think the responses are actually dated January 31st, 2006, so the questions were filed January 11th.  That would bring us to K6.


EXHIBIT NO. K4:  LETTER DATED SEPTEMBER 13


EXHIBIT NO. K5:  EXTRACT OF EDR HANDBOOK

EXHIBIT NO. K6:  BOARD STAFF INTERROGATORIES WITH 


RESPONSES DATED JANUARY 31, 2006


MR. KAISER:  I thought that was K5.


MR. MILLAR:  K5, Mr. Chair, is the Handbook.


MR. KAISER:  Is that K5?


MR. MILLAR:  No, it's chapter 2 of the -- 


MR. KAISER:  Oh, all right.  So K5 is the interrogatories.


MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, K6 is the interrogatories.  K5 is the extracts from the ‑‑ K6 is ‑‑ pardon me, K5 is the Handbook.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, Got you.  K6, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, which letter was it that you were searching for?


MR. KAISER:  It was the one that responded to their first round of ‑‑ October 21st.  This is your acknowledgement letter with respect to the material they filed on October 12.


MR. MILLAR:  This is a letter from the Board?


MR. STOLL:  I think it's dated October 21, 2005.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I'm not sure we have that in front of us right now, Mr. Chair.  We may be able to dig it up for you.  If Mr. Stoll has a copy, perhaps --


MR. STOLL:  I have a copy of the October 21, 2005, letter.


MR. KAISER:  Well, give us that one and we'll get copies made at the break.


MR. DOUGAN:  I think this is it, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Oh, we have it.  So this would be K7?


MR. MILLAR:  K7, that's right.  Mr. Chair, we don't typically give exhibit numbers to cases.  We can if you like.


EXHIBIT NO. K7:  LETTER DATED OCTOBER 21, 2005

MR. KAISER:  Well, whatever you prefer.


MR. MILLAR:  I don't think there's a need to do that, unless you wish.


MR. KAISER:  No, that's fine.


MR. MILLAR:  Now, Mr. Chair, I won't actually get to any of these documents until towards the end of my argument.  Most of my arguments, to the extent that it references documents, can be found in Mr. Stoll's motion record and his book of authorities.  


I believe you have copies of those documents.  I may also be making brief reference to the transcript from the Technical Conference, and I believe you have that, as well.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, we do.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So why don't I get started?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MILLAR:

Mr. Chair, Members of the Panel, I think it's important that as a starting point we look at the actual grounds of the motion as set out by Erie Thames.  If you could direct your attention to the motion record -- I think it's at tab A1 is the actual notice of motion.  It's called the revised notice of motion.  We get to the grounds for the motion on page 2 of 8.


And as you will see, the notice of motion sets out four grounds for the motion, and I'm to some extent paraphrasing here, but the first one is a change in circumstances related to what, in Erie Thames' view, was the transformation of an interim order to a final order without notice to the utility.


The second ground is a change in circumstances related to what ET ‑‑ Erie Thames, pardon me, regards as the introduction of a new issue, retroactivity.  In Erie Thames' view, this was improper both because Erie Thames was given no explicit opportunity to comment on this issue and that retroactivity should not have been an issue at all because interim rates were in effect for the relevant time period.


The third ground, which is labelled as C, actually, relates to an error in fact regarding certain expenses that were denied through the rate order, although they appear to  have actually been approved in the decision itself.


Board Staff does not oppose this portion of the motion.  It appears that there was simply an error in the rate order, so we take no issue with that ground.


The final ground is an argument that the Board's order does not meet the legal requirement of a just and reasonable rate because it does not allow Erie Thames to recover its entire revenue requirement, specifically for the period in which interim rates were in effect, despite the fact that the Board has recognized the validity of the revenue requirements.  Again, these are Erie Thames' words, not my own.


I think, Mr. Chair, it's easiest to group the first two grounds together, as they deal with a similar issue, the retroactivity issue.  I will then make some submissions on the fourth and final ground, what I'll call the "just and reasonable rates" ground.


On the first two issues, Mr. Chair, Members of the Panel, I confess I'm a bit confused regarding the distinction between ground and A and ground B as set out in the utility's motion record.


In my mind the two grounds are essentially making the same argument, that the Board has a duty to inform Erie Thames that retroactivity would be an issue and allow them to make submissions on that point.  Essentially they are  saying that Erie Thames did not know the case that had to be met, and therefore was denied procedural fairness.


Before I go any further, I want to touch on something Mr. Vlahos touched on, the meaning of retroactivity in a legal sense and what a lay person might think.  I think it would be worthwhile to describe more precisely what I mean when I talk about a retroactive rate.  A retroactive rate, as I describe it, is one that has a retrospective impact; that is to say that the final approved rates are to be applied for some period of time before the final rate order is issued.


I will talk about the law a little bit later, but it is my submission - and I think Mr. Stoll actually agrees with me on this point - that the Board does not have the jurisdiction to make a retroactive rate order for the period of time where a final rate order was in effect.


The Board does, however, have the jurisdiction to carry rates back retroactively where an interim order was in place.


In this case there was no question that for the period at issue interim rates were in effect, and there is therefore no prohibition at law to the Board preventing it from applying the final rates retroactively, or retrospectively, if you want to call it that.


On this point, I think Mr. Stoll and I are in agreement, and I believe Mr. Shepherd as well.  Where Mr. Stoll and I disagree is that he appears to believe that the Board is required to apply retroactive rates retroactively where an interim rate order was in effect.  It will be my submission that the law does not support this view and his position is not correct, and I will get to the cases in a moment.


The question that the Board has to consider is, should the Board have given Erie Thames some type of notice that the issue of retroactivity for the interim rate period was a live issue in this case?  In my submission, the answer to this question is no.


The reason no specific notice is required is that by law the Board is required to make a determination on whether or not to apply the final rates retroactively for the interim period.  The Board should no more have to give notice of its intention to consider the retroactivity issue than it would have to give notice of its requirement to make a determination regarding what is a just and reasonable rate.  By virtue of setting an interim rate, the Board has announced that this would be considered when the final rate order is issued.


It appears to have been Erie Thames' assumption that the final rate order would automatically be applied to the interim rates period.  In my submission that's not a reasonable assumption.


The fact that the Board continued Erie Thames' then-existing rates more or less as the interim rates could, in fact, be regarded as a signal that the final rates would not necessarily be carried back to the date of the interim rate order.


In fact, if you look at Erie Thames' own materials, they appear to, in fact, accept this proposition.  If you look at Erie Thames' submission, and that's in their motion record, I think at tab C -- tab 1C, yes.  Tab C1, pardon me.  It's the 37-page submission.  If you look to page 22 of that submission, there is an extract from the interim decision, and then Mr. Stoll writes, therefore, the rates are interim:

"In issuing an interim decision, the Board is putting ETPC and ratepayers on notice that a final determination has not been made and that rates may change."


I look at that as an admission of sorts on Erie Thames' behalf that they knew or should have known that the interim rates period would have to be considered in the final order.


Mr. Chair, if I think you parse what Mr. Stoll is saying, there appears to be a suggestion by Erie Thames that the Board is required to apply the final rates retroactively, or retrospectively, if you wish, to cover the period of interim rates.  In my submission, the law simply does not support this contention.


My friend Mr. Stoll relies heavily on the Supreme Court's Bell decision in his written submissions, and you will find that case at tab 5 of his book of authorities.


I think it's fair to say that he and I have a somewhat different view regarding what this case stands for.


On page 17 of his submission, Mr. Stoll states -- and again, this is the submission we were just looking at --


MR. KAISER:  I think it's tab 3, Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, tab... I'm sorry.  I'm looking at his, once again at his submission -- oh, you're quite right, it is tab 3, the Bell decision.  Thank you for that.


If we look again at his submission on page 17, the third full paragraph states:

"However, the necessary implication of the interim order is the binding obligation upon the tribunal to revisit the impact of the interim order.  The Supreme Court of Canada stated that it was a necessary requirement to revisit the impact of the interim order in order to avoid irreparable harm and to ensure the tribunal carried out its function of establishing just and reasonable rates."

And then he goes on to quote Bell, where he says: 

"The added flexibility provided by the power to make interim orders is meant to foster financial stability through throughout the regulatory process.  The power to revisit the period during which interim rates were in force is a necessary corollary to the power without which interim rates may, in emergency situations, cause irreparable harm and subvert the fundamental purpose of ensuring that rates are just and reasonable."


In my submission, ET's argument is confusing the Board's ability or power to retroactively change a final rate order with a requirement that the Board do so.  In fact, I think if you look at that quote - they're talking about a different board, of course – but, "The tribunal has the power to revisit."  It doesn't say there is a requirement.


In my submission, the only thing the Board is required to do is consider whether the final rate order should be applied retroactively.  The original panel did make this consideration, and thereby discharged its legal duty.


Although the Board may have arrived at a decision that the utility doesn't like, that does not amount to an error in the decision.  In my submission, a review of the entire Bell decision does not reveal any pronouncement by the court that actually changing an interim rate order retroactively is a requirement.  On the contrary, the case is quite clear that applying rates retroactively is merely an option at the regulator's disposal.


The issue in Bell was, if the regulator was prohibited from retrospectively changing an interim rate order.  It wasn't whether the regulator is required to change orders retroactively.


In fact, you can look at paragraph 39 of the Bell decision, which is at tab 3, this is the Court speaking.  It says:  

"This question involves a determination of whether rates approved by interim orders are inherently contingent as well as provisional and whether the statutory scheme established the Railway Act and the National Transportation Act is so prospective in nature that it precludes a retrospective rates approved by the Appellant."


Again, this is not about whether the Board has to apply rate orders retroactively; it's whether they have the power to do so.  And Mr. Stoll and I agree that they have the power to do so.  I think where we may disagree is that there is a requirement to do so.


I think the court was also clear in that decision that changing the interim order retrospectively was an option, not a requirement.  Again, I turn you to paragraph 43 of the decision.  It's on the next page.  The second sentence says:

"The statutory scheme established by the Railway Act and the National Transportation Act is such that one of the differences between interim and final orders must be that interim decisions may be reviewed and modified in a retrospective manner by the final decision.  It is inherent in the nature of interim orders that their effect as well as any discrepancy between the interim order and the final order may be reviewed and remedied by the final order."


It's not mandated.  It is an option. 


Now, I already brought you to page 17 of Erie Thames' written submissions, where they quote paragraph 56 of the Bell decision.  That was the passage I read to you earlier directly from Mr. Stoll's written argument, but I think it's helpful to look at that ‑‑ to give that quote its full context.  


And I would also note that the facts in the Bell case are quite different than the facts here.  I think the most important difference is the fact that in Bell, the interim rates were higher than the final rates.  In fact, Bell asked ‑‑ this is reading from the decision, "In fact, Bell", the applicant:

"...asked for and was granted interim rate increases on the basis of serious apprehended financial difficulties."


So in this case, Bell came to the tribunal and asked for an interim rate that was higher than the existing rate, and, in fact, turned out to be higher than the final rate order.  And I understand that their argument was that they would suffer serious financial difficulties due to the length of the regulatory process, I thought.  They couldn't wait for the money, essentially.  And of course that's not what's happened here.


So the interim order in that case was an increase over the existing rate and one that the regulator ultimately decided had been set too high.  The irreparable harm they're talking about later in the paragraph is therefore irreparable harm to the ratepayers, not to the utility.


The reason for this, in my submission, is that the utility has at least some control over when and how fast an application is heard.  I say some control, because I concede that the Board also has a role in the speed with which applications are heard and decisions rendered.  But the party that has no control is the ratepayer.


In fact, I think you'll find in a Technical Conference transcript that Erie Thames conceded or at least partially conceded that at least part of the time in question was in their control.  And if you have the transcript, I just want to read a very brief part of it at page 26.  There's a question by Mr. Shepherd.  At the top of the page, he asked:

"Mr. Stoll suggested if you had known of the urgency, you would have filed faster.  You would have got the information to the Board faster; that is correct?"


And the answer from the Erie Thames witness was: 

"Correct."


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Millar, we're talking about the 85 days now that could have been shorter.  That's what you're referring to?


MR. MILLAR:  Well, if we look at ‑‑ I can't ‑‑ Mr. Shepherd was, in fact, referring to a statement that had been made by Mr. Stoll earlier.  And I think that's right.  I think what Mr. Stoll was saying, if he had received explicit direction earlier, they would have got the financial statements faster.  Had they known how much was at stake - he said this earlier - they would have moved faster on it.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.


MR. MILLAR:  And all I point to is - I don't even think this is in dispute - that the utility has at least some control over the timing of applications and how fast materials are filed.


Now, all of this is not to say that the Board could never order a retrospective rate increase for an interim period under the right circumstances.  I feel it was important to note, however, that the Bell case was looking at a very different fact scenario than the case we have before us today.


So, in summary on this first issue, whether or not to apply a final rate order retroactively to cover an interim rate order is entirely within the discretion of the Panel. There should be no presumption that rates will be applied retroactively.  On the contrary, by setting interim rates, the Board was signalling that this was going to be an issue when the final rate order was issued.  


If Erie Thames has submissions to make on this issue, it certainty could have done so.  There has been no breach here of procedural fairness.


Now, Mr. Chair, I was going to move on to the just and reasonable rates issue.  This may be a good time to answer any questions you may have on the retroactivity issue.  If there are no questions, I will move on to the just and reasonable rates portion of the argument.


MR. KAISER:  No, go ahead.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  The final ground that I wish to deal with is Erie Thames' point D, and, again, to turn you back to the motion record and the notice of motion, I think it's easiest if I just read it out.  The ground is:

"A dramatic reduction in the revenues that ETPC is able to recover despite the recognition of the validity of ETPC's costs and expenditures, thereby resulting in rates that are not just and reasonable, contrary to section 78(3) of the Ontario Energy Board Act."


And he's calling this an error of fact, I think I should be clear, or maybe I'm wrong in that, actually.  Mr. Stoll can explain, but that's how ground D is worded.


So what Erie Thames is saying, I think, is that by failing to carry rates back retrospectively for the period of interim rates, the Board has failed to make an order that is just and reasonable.


Now, there's no question that rate orders by this Board must be just and reasonable.  On this, I think everyone in the room would agree.


Where I don't agree with Mr. Stoll is his contention that by failing to apply the final rate order retrospectively, the Board has somehow made a rate order that is not just and reasonable.


It might be helpful here ‑‑ I think this ties into a little bit of what Mr. Vlahos was speaking about earlier, but I think it would be helpful to consider the underlying rationale that the Board uses to set rates.


A test period is determined, which we call the test year.  The purpose, in my submission, of the test year is to assess the costs that the utility incurs for that test period.  Once these costs are properly demonstrated to the Board and approved through a final rate, these are the rates going forward.


Although we colloquially refer to rates at 2005 rates or 2006 rates, in reality the rates are in place until they are replaced by the next rate order by the Board.  The next rate order might come in a year, it might come in three years, or it might come in six months.  The point is that the test period does not necessarily match the actual period for which the rate order is in effect.


This does not mean that the rates are not just and reasonable.  Once rates are set, they are presumed to be just and reasonable until replaced by another Board rate order.


And, in fact, in the current case, we're dealing with a historic test year.  These are 2004 test period for 2006 rates.  The Board determined that 2004 costs would act as a reasonable proxy for 2006 costs, and decided to set rates on this basis.  Although the intent is that these costs be recovered in 2006, they are not actually 2006 costs.  


The actual 2006 costs may be ‑‑ they might be a bit higher, they might be a bit lower, they might be the same.  We don't know for sure.


Again, it is well within the Board's authority to adopt a historic test year, and this does not mean that the rates set through this process are not just and reasonable.


The point is that when Erie Thames suggests that the Board has not permitted them to recover all of their costs and expenditures, even though the Board has accepted these costs and expenditures, this is not entirely accurate.  For the interim period, the Board did not accept the new costs and expenditures.  It continued the existing rates.  


Once the new costs and expenditures were proven to the Board's satisfaction, it issued a final rate order reflecting these new costs and expenditures on a going‑forward basis.


MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Millar, can I just interrupt you for a moment?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.


MS. SPOEL:  This may be in the record, but I just want to clarify it.


If the financial statements that were finally filed, or the financial statements that were filed in July ‑‑ or July, I guess it was, of 2006, had been filed back in January as a result of the answers to interrogatories and had been available then and had been filed, would the interim ‑‑ no, there wouldn't have been an interim decision in April.


MR. MILLAR:  I think that's right.


MS. SPOEL:  There would have been a final decision in April.


MR. MILLAR:  That's right.


MS. SPOEL:  And that final decision would have -- based on the Rate Handbook approach, I presume would have included the amount that Erie Thames is now seeking to recover for the nine‑month period.  In other words, it would have been set as of April going forward effective May 1st, I guess it was?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I mean, it would always be up to the Panel to make that --


MS. SPOEL:  So those numbers ‑‑ did anything change in the application from what was available in January to what was -- in terms of the numbers?  Did anything change between January and July, or was it simply the nature of the paper that was filed to support the numbers that were filed?


MR. MILLAR:  I was planning on addressing that.  I think it's fair to say -- and Mr. Stoll spoke of this in his preliminary remarks and I think it's in his written submissions, as well.  The information that finally did come forward with the audited stand-alone financials, if not identical, it is largely the same as the material that the Board had in front of it.


MS. SPOEL:  So if it had gone through the normal process, the stuff had been ‑‑ and the numbers, they would have had ‑‑ the numbers that would have been considered to be just and reasonable, based on the formula for taking 2004 numbers and so on, would have been deemed to be just and reasonable as of April?


MR. MILLAR:  May 1st.


MS. SPOEL:  Well, May 1st, 2006, instead of January 2007?


MR. MILLAR:  In all likelihood, yes.


MS. SPOEL:  Well, it was the same formula that was applied to it ‑‑


MR. MILLAR:  That's right, there's no reason to believe it would have been ‑‑


MS. SPOEL:  There's no material difference?


MR. MILLAR:  Well, there is a difference.  The numbers might have been the same, but the nature of the documents was not the same.


MS. SPOEL:  No, but in terms of the determination of the revenue requirement, the same number would have been derived?


MR. MILLAR:  I think that's right.  If the Board had accepted ‑‑ there may have been slight differences.  Mr. Stoll can correct me in redirect if he likes, but I think the numbers were, if not identical, very, very similar.


MS. SPOEL:  The only issue was the nature of the supporting evidence --


MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  The Board decided that –-no, these are not audited financial statements as required for the stand-alone utility; therefore, they didn't have the evidentiary basis to set the new rates.


MS. SPOEL:  You are arguing that the rates as of April must be deemed to be just and reasonable, but the rates as of January must also be deemed to be just and reasonable, but there is actually quite a discrepancy between the two?


MR. MILLAR:  Right.  The reason for that is the Board has to make to the decision based on the evidence that's before it at the time.  As of April 1st, the Board did not have the evidentiary foundation to set the final rates.  It did not have what was required, which were the final audited stand-alone rates for the utility.  For example, let's say the utility hadn't filed any statements at all, notice to reader statements or otherwise, and had just written in its application, the revenue requirement is $10 million.


And let's say that the Board said, no, that's not good enough, you have to file the supporting evidence.  Even if the utility eventually came forward with the proper supporting evidence that eventually determined and proved for the Board that $10 million is, in fact, the revenue requirement, you wouldn't say that the Board was wrong in its interim decision in not giving them the $10 million, because the Board has to ability on the information that's before it, and if the information is not sufficient, then they can't make that order.


MR. VLAHOS:  By the Board, you mean the Panel?


MR. MILLAR:  The Panel, yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Because there's an issue here in terms of some of the correspondence that was sent out by the Board.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, and I will talk to you on that towards the end.


MR. VLAHOS:  That's fine.


MR. MILLAR:  And, Ms. Spoel, I do have a case that may be of some assistance to furthering this argument which is coming up very shortly, so perhaps I'll continue, and if you have remaining outstanding questions after that I'll attempt to answer them as best I can.


I think perhaps we can simply turn to the case.  It's the Bell decision, again.  I will be looking at paragraph 49.


The first two sentences read:

"It is true, as the respondent argues, that all telephone rates approved by the appellant must be just and reasonable, whether these rates are approved by interim or final order.  No other conclusion can be derived from section 340(1) of the Railway Act.  However, interim rates must be just and reasonable on the basis of the evidence filed by the Applicant at the hearing or otherwise available for the interim decision."


I think you find support from the Supreme Court, in fact, of the proposition that the Board has to make the  determination based on the evidentiary record that's before it for the interim rates.


In my submission, that's exactly what it did.  It decided that, even though the number may have been the same, they didn't have the proper evidentiary foundation to get them to that number, so they had to base their decision on what was before them, the numbers that were in the notice to reader statements that may have turned out eventually to be correct, but a sufficient evidentiary foundation was not there at the time the interim rates were set.


Mr. Chair, Members of the Panel, I think this ties in a little bit to Mr. Stoll's argument that he made orally as well as in writing, that the Board should not use a rate order to punish a utility for perceived shortcomings in an application or filing, or anything, for that matter.  In my submission, the Board's order should not be viewed as punishment.


The Board sets rates when those rates are demonstrated to it through the hearing process.  The Board's general practice is to not apply rates retrospectively where there is a rate increase so as to not harm ratepayers.  In fact, section 1 of the Ontario Energy Board Act under the objectives states -- one of the Board's objectives is to protect the interests of customers with respect to prices and the adequacy, reliability and quality of electricity service.


The reason, I think, that the Board has been inclined to grant retrospective rate orders for rate decreases is that the ratepayer has no control over the timing of a rate application or the implementation of a rate order.  The decision on whether or not to order retrospective rates, however, as I've argued before, is entirely at the discretion of the Panel.  They'll make that decision on a case-by-case basis.


Now, Members of the Panel, I would like to also point out that there is essentially no new information in Erie Thames' motion record that wasn't before the panel deciding this case originally.


All of the arguments brought forward before you today were available to the applicant in the first instance.  The Board is well aware of its requirement to set just and reasonable rates, and one would assume that the panel gave due consideration to the just and reasonable rates issue in rendering its decision.  It gave Erie Thames' application due consideration and set rates that it found to be just and reasonable.  


Now, although Erie Thames may not be happy with the decision, they have not brought forward any real new information to show why the Board was wrong in that analysis.  A review application should not, in my mind, be viewed as a forum for an applicant to repeat argument that was made or could have been made in the original proceeding.


So there is a lot of material, but there is nothing here that couldn't have been before the original panel.  The panel made a just and reasonable rates determination.  I don't see anything on the record that would cause you to overturn that.


I'm going to turn briefly to the time line.  Mr. Stoll certainly raised this in his submissions.  It's in the written submissions, and there were some questions about the Board.  


My opening position on the time line is that it's not terribly relevant, for the reasons already stated.  There's no issue about procedural fairness.  There is no reason these arguments couldn't have been made before the original panel, or perhaps were made.  There is nothing new here.  The record is what the record is.  The original panel reviewed it and made a decision as to what it thought was a just and reasonable rate.  But I think it has come up, so if the Board is not inclined to accept all of my arguments on that, I will turn to it briefly.


Now, the reason that the rates were set interim for May 1st, 2006, is that the Board did not have the utility's audited financial statements.  I think that's clear from the decision.


The Board decided that it needed these statements and ordered the utility to file them before it could consider the application.  Therefore the rates were set interim for that period.  They were largely a continuation of the existing rates.  I think there might have been some Smart Meter money or something like that put in, but they were largely the old rates.


Mr. Chair, as we've reviewed before, Board Staff, in one manner or another, requested the audited financial statements for the stand-alone utility on at least three occasions.


The first and perhaps most important is in the Handbook.  This is dated May 11, 2005.  We've marked it as Exhibit K5.  In fact, if you look on the first page before it even gets to the actual filing requirements, in bold, about halfway through the page it says:

"An Applicant is responsible for the completeness and accuracy of information submitted to the Board.  The burden is on the Applicant to demonstrate, through the evidence it provides, that the rates sought are just and reasonable."


If you turn to the next page, there is a section 2.1.3, and that is where it says that the audited financial statements are required.


As I mentioned before, this is the first time there has been a handbook for electricity rate applications.  From the get-go, it's a clear requirement that audited financial statements of the stand-alone utility be provided.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, just stopping there, I think I asked you this earlier.


Is it clear that in the case of all the other utilities that received rate increases that they all filed audited financial statements for these three years?


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I've asked Ms. Dougan and Mr. Davies, and we're not aware of any instances where that was not the case.  I can't say with one hundred percent certainty there are none.  If you like, I can try to provide that over the lunch break and make some further inquiries, but as far as I am aware, everyone filed as required.


MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Millar, do you think it would be clear to all the utilities that when it says an applicant must file its audited financial statements, that that would be for the wires company and not part of the consolidated financial statements?  Was that an issue with other utilities?


MR. MILLAR:  As far as I am aware, and unless Mr. Davies or Ms. Dougan or Ms. Babaie tell me differently, that was never an issue.  The applicant is the wires company, the applicant is the LDC.  It's not the parent company or the affiliate.  So I think that should be clear that the applicant means the wires company.


In many ways this is the most important of the documents.  It's a clear statement from the Board that it will require these materials before making a decision, and that the onus to provide all this is on the applicant.


The second document is the acknowledgement letter of September 13th.  We have marked it as K4.  Again, here's another indication from the Board asking the utility to provide quite a number of additional documents, but you can see very clearly that the second one is schedule 2.3, audited financial statements and reconciliations.  So here again the Board is stating that these will be required.


MR. KAISER:  What is your explanation as to why it's not in the letter of October 21st?  That's K7.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I'm not sure I have a good answer for that.  There's certainly no letter -- well, Mr. Stoll pointed to the letter accepting that the application is complete.  That's on the record.  There's no question about that.


As to why not every single letter references these audited financial statements, I don't have an answer for that.


MR. KAISER:  Well, K7 is a response to the subsequent filings made in response to the document you've just referred to.  They filed in response to K4, September 13th.  I think they filed about a month later, October 13th.


October 21st, a week later, two weeks later, your client responds and said, No, you forgot two things, but didn't mention the audited statements.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I'm not sure I have a perfect answer for you on that.  I would note that the Board did send one letter saying that those haven't been provided, and they never were ‑‑ or I shouldn't say they never were.  They were eventually provided, but not before the interim order.  


As to why some things are highlighted here and others aren't, I don't have an answer for that.


And, again, Mr. Chair, the third document that I provided to you are the Board Staff interrogatories.  This is Exhibit K6.


These are actually the responses to the interrogatories, but they include the question themselves.  The questions were actually filed January 11th, I believe.  They were responded to, and this document is dated January 31st.  But if you turn to question 12, which I see is on page 5 of 19, again you'll see a request from the Board that the audited financial statements be provided, and then there is a response there.  Mr. Stoll has, in fact, already referred to that.


So, Mr. Chair, on at least three instances before the interim rates were ordered, the Board, either through the Handbook or through letters, indicated that the audited financial statements for the wires company were required.


And to that extent, it should not necessarily have been a surprise to the utility that the decision was delayed when it did not file these statements as requested.


There is one other thing I would like to point out in the time line, Mr. Chair.  It should be noted that the Board actually did act quite quickly once all the information was before it.  Now, these letters are all on the record.  I don't think I ‑‑ I may or may not have some copies of them, but I don't think there's any dispute about what they said.


When the Board finally accepted Erie Thames' application after they filed the audited financial statements, they issued a letter on October 10th stating that Erie Thames could expect a final rate order by March 12, 2007.  And that's using the normal time lines for an application.


In fact, the Board was able to provide a final rate order, for rates effective January 1st, more than three months earlier than initially anticipated.


So certainly when that information did come before the Board, the Board acted quite quickly on it.


And, Mr. Chair, again, I hesitate to focus too much on the time line, because I ‑‑ it's not terribly relevant in light of my initial submissions, but what I would say is if the Board is inclined to accept Erie Thames' submission that the initial panel somehow misapprehended the impact of these letters and who said what when, and somehow that led them to misapprehend the evidence before it and, therefore, in error not order interim rates, I would point out that the Board's letter stating the application is complete is dated November 2nd.  That's a full two months after the filings were initially required.


So if the Board is to grant any relief -- and I would suggest they shouldn't, but if you do, there should be two months backed out.  And Mr. Stoll actually addressed this himself.  There are two months for which I don't think Erie Thames had any excuse at all for not filing the audited financial statements.


I provided some cases, Mr. Chair.  I'm going to speak about these only very briefly.


Mr. Stoll in his book of authorities refers to a couple of decisions where a rate order was made and it had a retrospective impact.  I don't really propose to go into the details regarding these cases because, again, I don't think they're terribly relevant.  


Whether or not to grant retrospective rates for a period of time of interim rates is a decision that is entirely at the Board's discretion.  The fact that the Board has in some instances made these orders is not relevant.  


Nobody is arguing that you don't have the power to do it.  It's the question of if you have to do it.  


So in light of that, I filed three cases.  The Espanola and Kashechewan cases are instances where the Board declined to give its final rate order retrospective impact for a period of interim rates, so there are two examples where the Board decided not to do that. 


And I also provided the St. Thomas case.  That is a case where rates were applied retrospectively, but it was a case of a rate decrease rather than a rate increase.  So I don't propose we spend too much time looking at these case.  All I mean to show is that the Board sometimes orders a retrospective impact; sometimes they don't.  It's at your discretion.  It's not a requirement.


MR. KAISER:  Are there any non-Vlahos decisions?


MR. MILLAR:  I think he had the lion's share of the EDR decisions, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  No, just a joke.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I'll move to sum things up.


Erie Thames' first two grounds, which I had grouped together, deal with the Board's power to make retroactive or retrospective rate orders.  Erie Thames' submission appears to be that the Board is required to apply the final rate order retrospectively to the period in which interim rates were in effect.  


In my submission, there is simply no support in law for this position.  On the contrary, the courts have been clear that the decision on when rates will be applied retrospectively is at the tribunal's discretion.  It is an optional power, not a requirement.  


The second argument regarding retroactivity is that Erie Thames has been denied procedural fairness because the Board did not provide it with any specific notice that the Board might not apply the final rate order retrospectively to the period in which interim rates were in effect.  


In my submission, no specific notice is required, and there has been no breach of procedural fairness.  The very act of setting rates interim is notice to the parties that the issue will have to be addressed in the final rate order.  


In fact, the Board has no option but to consider what rate to finally apply for the period of interim rates.  It's a legal requirement.  There is simply no support for the position that the Board must provide some additional type of notice that this issue will be considered when the final rate order is determined.  


As I said previously, there's no more need to give notice on the retroactivity issue than there would be to give notice that the Board is going to consider just and reasonable rates.  It's simply a legal requirement that should be known by all parties.


The third ground I addressed is the just and reasonable rates argument.  In my mind, there is nothing on the record to suggest that the rates set by the Board was either unjust or unreasonable.  This is the final rate order.  


I also add that no new information has been filed in this review.  The Board has already considered all of the information on the record and issued a rate order that it felt was just and reasonable.  There's no basis on the record to overturn this decision.  A review motion is not simply an opportunity to reargue matters that could have been raised before.


And, finally, again, with respect to the time line, I've told you my view on that.  They had at least three warnings from the Board that these would be required.  In any event, I don't regard it as particularly relevant, because there's no breach of procedural fairness.  These arguments could have been raised initially.


And subject to any questions that you might have, Mr. Chair, those are my submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, it's 12 o'clock.  I'm going to be about 40 minutes.  Do you want me to start now?  Do you want me to start after lunch?  Do you want to go until we're finished?  I'm in your hands.  I just don't want to launch into it, and then find that you would rather...


MR. KAISER:  Go ahead, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


Let me start with sort of a ‑‑ I guess it's come up a couple of times today, and that's the impact on ratepayers if you were to decide to grant the relief requested.


My friend has said that that's $48 per residential ratepayer, and there are about 12,000 residential ratepayers.  I took that off their EDR model while I was listening.


So that means it's just under $600,000 of this they would recover from the residential ratepayers, and another $800,000 would be recovered from the approximately 900 other customers, including Schools.


And without going into all the details of the calculations, I'm going to talk to you a bit about this later, but we estimate that the schools in the Erie Thames area would pay $45,000 extra if this relief was granted.


So it may be not very much to residential consumers, but the schools would notice a $45,000 bill.  In fact, they would probably call them.


So I just want to set that aside.  I'll discuss that in a little more detail later, but I just wanted to make sure that the context is clear.


There's two sections to this.  There is the technical arguments, the legal arguments, that Mr. Millar has made, and I should say off the top that I pretty well 100 percent agree with the arguments he's made.  I just want to make a couple of additional comments, and then I'm going to talk about some substantive arguments that don't relate to the legal side of the issue.  


First, one of the things that Mr. Stoll has said is that the decision itself, because it didn't fix the interim rates, and because it applied retroactively without telling them, is a change of circumstances under the Act.


I didn't want to let that go by without dealing with it because I find it quite surprising that the decision being reviewed would be the change of circumstances that allows a review motion.


I'm not suggesting that he doesn't have a right to bring this motion.  There are lots of other reasons why you can bring a motion of this sort.  But I don't think that the decision itself can be the change of circumstances, and I have seen no authority to that effect.


I just didn't want to leave that go.


Behind that, though, are two more subtle issues, and that is, once you set interim rates you have an obligation to fix them later and get to the right final rates for that period.  You can't leave the issue open for later.  You have an obligation, once you decide, to make your decision retroactive.


I have two comments on that.  Mr. Millar has talked about the law on that, and I agree with to him.  The comments I want to make are, number 1, that would suggest, or it implies that there is a requirement that you act retroactively in certain circumstance.  And given the fact that the Act itself suggests that retroactivity is a bad idea, and the Board's policy has for many years been resistant to retroactivity, I would find it quite astonishing if there was a requirement that you be retroactive in certain circumstances.


The power is one thing.  The requirement is a whole other thing.


The second thing is, if it's the case that interim rates create an obligation to go back and retroactively fix them, then I think the Board has to take quite a different approach to how it sets interim rates.  Right now the Board sets interim rates, generally speaking, at least in my experience, on the basis that here's a situation where it wants to keep its options open, wants to make sure that a subsequent panel, going back and dealing with that period, isn't caught by the jurisdictional rules.


So, for example, when you do a QRAM for a gas utility, you often, or in certain circumstances, anyway, make those rates interim.  You make them interim because there are a number of other things that are going to happen, and they might affect that period.


If Mr. Stoll's argument is correct, then I think it's fair to say that you now must decide, at the time you set interim rates, that those rates are wrong and are going to have to be corrected, because if you don't make that decision, then you shouldn't be setting them interim, you should be making them final.  When you make the decision to make rates interim, you're creating an expectation and you're giving yourself an obligation.  And so if you're going to do that, you better make sure you're right at the outset.  And I don't think that's workable.  As a practical matter, I don't think it's workable, the way the Board does its work.


The third of these -- the other sort of underlying and what I would consider more dangerous argument being proposed is that somehow the Board should only consider retroactivity if it has expressly raised it as an issue in a proceeding.  Once more -- I hate to keep on using the word "astonishing," but once again, I'm astonished that retroactivity is one of those overriding issues that applies in every case where you have timing concerns.  I'm trying to think of an example of something else that is similar.


I guess the point I'm trying to make is it's quite a different type of issue to an issue like are your O&M expenses prudent, is your budget prudent in a cost of service application.


In that case, if nobody raises the issue, everybody accepts it as fine, then, generally speaking, nobody pays much attention to it, and the Board proceeds apace.


In the case of something like retroactivity, applicants should be aware, every time they come before the Board, that they have an obligation to get their rates in a timely manner.  And if they don't, retroactivity will be an issue.


That leads to my final point on this section, and that is, we're in a situation where the electric LDCs are phasing in the level at which they're regulated.  They were regulated, as somebody put it to me once, by phone calls with Ontario Hydro, back in the day, and that has evolved, and the Board is very carefully taking, step by step, trying to make sure that the adjustment is not too harsh for the LDCs so that they can get their procedures more formalized, they can get better auditing procedures, et cetera.


But there is a point at which the Board has to say:  Look, you're a regulated entity, you have to follow the rules.  If the Board never says:  We're going to require you to follow the rules and there are going to be consequences if you don't, then nobody ever will.  Why would they?


And so, frankly, if I were Erie Thames I'd think this decision was pretty harsh, the decision that's being impugned here.  It's a lot of money for filing late.  On the other hand, it isn't like they weren't told and, as I'll come to in a minute, it's not actually as painful as it appears to be.  What you're doing when you make a decision like this is you're sending a message to all the other LDCs, actions have consequences.  You are a regulated entity and you are required to follow the rules.


If you don't do that, they will never follow the rules.


That leads to the bulk of my submissions, which are basically, the question you are being asked here underneath everything is is the impugned decision unfair.  Mr. Stoll says it is and our position is it is not.  Is it is it the exact decision that I would have made if I were sitting there?  Who knows?  But my guess is, no.


What matters is what the result is, not what the individual components of it are.  And in this context, I want to emphasize here that what this Board has to consider is not whether it's fair to the utility.  This Board has to consider whether it's fair to the utility and to the ratepayers.  And so, on the one hand you have, as I've said, the apparently punitive nature of the decision, which I don't think is actually all that punitive, but the utility does.  


On the one hand, that looks harsh to them.  But let's look at what is the case on the other side.  We just had filed the 2006 financial statements of Erie Thames Powerlines.  They were filed this morning.  They were just approved, I understand, by the board of directors last night.  By my math - and I will to invite Mr. Stoll in his reply to correct this - but by my math, if this Board decides in favour of the relief granted, their ROE will be something in excess of 12 percent.  Their actually experienced ROE will be something in excess of 12 percent for 2006.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd, do we have those financial statements?  Were they given an exhibit number?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't know.  I don't think so.  Oh, yes.  They're Undertaking JT-1 from the Technical Conference.


MR. KAISER:  What exhibit are we at, 8?


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, since it has the undertaking number, I don't think an exhibit number is required.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just so this the Board can understand where I'm coming from on this -- and I don't know whether these numbers are correct.  It's a much more complicated calculation that I'm doing, but I only got them a couple of hours ago, so I haven't had a chance to really look at them in detail.  And I'm not suggesting there's any fault on the part of the utility.  They were only approved last night.  They could only give them to me this morning.


But it appears to me that the after‑tax income, if this money is put back in, is somewhere around $1 million, and on $8 million of equity, that's about 12-1/2 percent ROE.


Now, obviously, this is not a regulatory calculation, but it gives you a sense.  So that's the first of the reasons, Mr. Chair, Members of the Panel, why, from the ratepayers' point of view, it may not quite be fair to give this relief that's been requested.


So then the second one is ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, is this the utility or the holding company?  I just want to make sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I couldn't hear you, Mr. Vlahos.


MR. VLAHOS:  Do those financial statements pertain to the utility, the wires company?


MR. SHEPHERD:  These are the utility's, yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, thank you. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  For the second thing, I'm going file some data.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, we'll call that Exhibit K8.


EXHIBIT NO. K8:  SPREADSHEET SUBMITTED BY 


MR. SHEPHERD

MR. KAISER:  Thank you. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And let me just explain what this is, and as the Members of the Panel will be aware, I'm constitutionally incapable of appearing before this Board without a spreadsheet in hand.  And this is the Schools, when they're looking at rate applications, use some sample schools, one which is GS under 50 and one which is GS over 50, to assess what the rates are for the particular utilities.  It is just something we do normally.


And so we just took the rates that are in the Board‑approved for May 1st, 2006 and the Board‑approved for January 1st, 2007, and calculated what these sample customers would pay.  It's simply math.  It uses the utility's numbers.  There's nothing magical about it.


And then the Schools have a comparison database that assesses what's the median, what's the average across the province for all utilities and what's the ranking, the highest to lowest, of the various utilities.


In this case, Erie Thames for Schools ‑‑ and I'm not saying that this is true for residential consumers or any other class.  We have not yet completed our models for those classes, but for schools, even with the rates that were approved, the interim rates as of May 1st, 2006, Erie Thames is substantially over the provincial average for both smaller and larger schools; that is, for both GS under 50 and GS over 50.


They are 23rd most expensive for smaller schools, 31st most expensive for larger schools.


When the rates were approved on January 1st, Erie Thames became the second most expensive place to have a small school in the province and the 16th most expensive place to have a large school.  Now ‑‑


MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Shepherd, can I just ask you a question about this?  When you're doing this, are you looking at the number -- when you rank them, are you ranking them by utility or are you doing some sort of pro rata ranking based on the number of schools within each utility?  


Like, let's say Toronto Hydro was number 15 on the list, or 20, 37, or 85, whatever it is.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Four.


MS. SPOEL:  Would you take into account that they have maybe 1,000 schools in Toronto versus ten in Erie Thames or something?  I don't know how many there are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thirty.


MS. SPOEL:  Is this simply a ranking by -- that there's 87 utilities, or is there any kind of weighting by the size?


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is just a rate comparison, so no, there's no weighting but numbers of schools.  For example, when we go to school boards and tell them roughly their rate differentials, they then look at how many schools they have to see what the impact is.


MS. SPOEL:  Right.  And is there any consideration ‑‑ I take it from your comments that you haven't compared other rate classes, but there's also no consideration of the kind of customer base or the service area, the nature of a service area that any particular utility is serving when you do this comparison?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.


MS. SPOEL:  You are simply taking the bill that, you know, ABC junior public school might get in Aylmer versus CDE junior public school in Toronto, for example?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.


MS. SPOEL:  Or Sudbury or Lakehead or wherever.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And we don't suggest for a minute that this comparison factors out all the things that you should factor out.  And this is why we have never suggested that you should just force everybody to be the same.  We understand there should be differences, and in fact the Board has a process for that.


MS. SPOEL:  I just wanted to clarify, when you do this spreadsheet, just what's included in that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But our point is a different one, that there is some evidence before the Board that at least for some categories of customers, this is a relatively high‑cost utility and that ‑ I mean, this is empirical evidence - then that should be a factor that this Board considers, especially if it's true that there's a significant impact on the GS under 50 and GS over 50 classes of the change, which there is, as you know from the evidence already before you.  


So that's the second factor.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Shepherd, you're not implying that the rates are not just and reasonable for that specific utility, albeit higher than some other utility?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  In fact, what I'm saying is ‑‑ and thank you for raising that.  There are a lot of reasons why the rates for any sample customer will be higher or lower from one utility to the next, including ‑‑ I mean, the Board is going through a rate design process right now that's going to adjust a whole bunch of people, because some of them are wrong.


And so you could take too much out of data like this, but what you can see is that if somebody's rates for at least one category of customers are already higher than average, and they're asking for relief that puts them much higher than average, that may be a factor you wish to consider in determining whether those rates are just and reasonable.


MS. SPOEL:  Is one of the factors that the Board considers in setting rates for LDCs how they compare to other LDCs?  Is that one of the factors taken into account in the EDR process?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It has not been yet.


MS. SPOEL:  So this would be a novel consideration?


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I'm not actually asking you to say, Because you have height rates, therefore we're not going to give you relief.


MS. SPOEL:  So why are you filing this?


MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am asking is that when you're balancing the fairness, you have some things on one side and some things on the other side, and this is one of the things on the ratepayers' side.


MS. SPOEL:  Well, I think it's clear, without getting into the details of individual customers, that if we grant what Erie Thames wants, that rates will go up and therefore ratepayers in general will pay some more, and, if we don't, they won't.  I mean ‑‑ and I'm just wondering if there's something more -- more than that that we should be taking into account?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  In fact, ‑‑ well, I mean, yes, I guess what I'm saying is something slightly different than that.


If the applicant here were Horizon Utilities, for example, Horizon happens to be a relatively low‑cost utility, and if they were ‑‑ (a) if they were here, we probably wouldn't be.  We might be here to talk about retroactivity, but we certainly wouldn't be saying what they're asking for is not just and reasonable, because they're already low‑cost.  We shouldn't complain.


Whereas, if we're already paying more in Erie Thames than we're paying in Orangeville, then school boards, as a ratepayer, we're concerned with the rates; right?


MS. SPOEL:  But I'm just trying to understand, Mr. Shepherd, on this motion, how this information is relevant to the decision that we have to make on this motion, when comparisons between utilities are not one of the factors that were or are taken into account at the moment, in setting rates; if what ratepayers actually pay in the utility or different classes of ratepayers pay in one utility is not a factor that we take into account, what use and what relevance this information is on this motion today?


MR. SHEPHERD:  When I come to affiliates, you're going to see that our view is that there are potentially substantial profits being earned outside of the utility.


MS. SPOEL:  But what does that have to do with what the school ‑‑ what an individual customer is paying?  That's a separate issue, I think.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  I'm getting to that.  And the reason they are connected is because if the reason why this utility is relatively higher-cost, and the only evidence you have before you is a school comparison, my friend can put a comparison of residential, and he knows that this is something that's on our bug-a-boo list, as it were, if the only evidence that you have before you is that they're relatively high cost --


MS. SPOEL:  But, Mr. Shepherd, it shouldn't matter.  If they were the lowest cost utility in the province and they were overearning because of the cost of the affiliates, then that would be an issue before the Board. I'm trying to keep this to what is relevant for our consideration, and I'm wondering what it is you want us to do with this information, other than saying we're paying a lot here already, and therefore that's a factor you should take into account in making the decision.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess the easiest way to explain that is this.  I quite understand that on this issue I'm pushing a very large rock uphill and I have been for two years now, with limited success.


MR. KAISER:  It's starting to roll back.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The easiest way to understand it is this.  When I talk to a school board, they say to me:  We're the ratepayers; you guys are all over there talking about regulatory stuff.


MS. SPOEL:  We understand all of that, Mr. Shepherd, and we know that there is a whole rate design and cost allocation process going on at the Board because there are issues as between utilities, as you've correctly pointed out earlier, as to how things are allocated.  They're not all the same.  What I'm wondering is -- and hopefully you won't turn into Sisyphus -- but really, what are you wanting us to do with this particular information as it relates to the motion that we are hearing today?  I'm having trouble understanding why it’s a factor as to whether the decision is correct or not, and as to whether it's the question as to the correctness of the decision, which is what we have to decide under Rule 44, what relevance it is how much a particular client group or ratepayer group happens to pay in one utility versus another.  If you can tell me why that is relevant to our consideration today, that would be very helpful.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And what I'm attempting to say, inelegantly, is that the issue before you, in terms of correctness, is whether the rates that were established were fair.  And my friend has correctly pointed that out.   In considering whether rates are fair, it is reasonable for the Board to consider whether the customers before you are paying more or less than they would be paying somewhere else.  I'm saying it's reasonable for you to assume --


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, I have to weigh in on this one.


This argument has been presented to the Board many times, and you cannot disagree with that statement --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  -- by yourself.  There have been many decisions that squarely have dealt with that issue.  Is it not so?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, that's true.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  No more.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This may come under the heading of...


MR. KAISER:  Beating a dead horse.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That isn't quite the wording I'd use, but let me move on.


The third piece of information that I think the Board should consider in balancing the fairness is the actual financial data of the utility for the periods on which we have audited financial statements.  We have five years, from 2002 to 2006, now filed.  I'm not going to take you through them all in detail, but here's a quick summary of a couple of pieces of information that the Board may be interested in considering.


The increase in the distribution expenses from 2002 to 2006, according to the financial statements, is 20.3 percent.  I'm not suggesting that's bad or good or whatever; it's just -- it is what it is.  The increase in the distribution revenue is 21.7 percent in the same period.


If the utility's argument is this decision is unfair to us, then I think they need to explain why revenues nonetheless went up faster than expenses.  It suggests that the pain that they're experiencing in this harsh decision may not be as painful.  And by the way, I should add that when you look at the various numbers from year to year, and unfortunately I didn't have time to do a spreadsheet, what you see is that the distribution expenses and the distribution revenue are almost identical every year.  Almost identical.


In one year they're $11 apart.  In another year, I think they're actually equal.


And that suggests to me, and when I come to affiliates I'll suggest this, that the affiliate payments may, in fact, be designed to make sure that the expenses are within the revenues, or vice versa.  We don't know that.  We have no evidence of that.  All we have is a set of numbers which for five years appear to be very close to each other.


That leads to my last component of my submissions, and that relates to affiliate transactions.  I want to preface this by saying two things.  First of all, Member Spoel asked questions about what would have happened on May 1st if the audited financial statements had been filed.  I believe the answer was not complete.  Mr. Millar's answer was, well, we could have had rates at the rates that were finally decided.


I don't think that's actually correct, because the Board decided, in the April 12 decision, two things.  You didn't give us audited financial statements, and you haven't demonstrated that your affiliate payments are just and reasonable, are prudently incurred.


Without that evidence, it's our submission that these rates would not have been in place on May 1st, and in fact, it's our respectful submission that you still don't have that evidence.


So, to deal with the affiliates, and I'm not going to spend -- trust me, I could talk about this for hours, but I'm going to talk about it instead for five minutes, I hope.


Here's what happened.  This is described in the Technical Conference transcript in some detail.  If you would like, I can take you to some individual references, but I think it's simply if I just give you the description, it's all together in the Technical Conference, so you can read it at your leisure.


In 1999 or 2000, seven municipal utilities amalgamated, and they had a problem when they amalgamated.  The various municipalities applied political pressure to them - and this is in the Technical Conference transcript -applied political pressure to them not to terminate any of the employees, not to reduce the workforce.


They were stuck.  You have seven utilities amalgamating, you should have economies of scale, and they admit they should have had economies of scale, but they were prevented from rationalizing from the fact that they couldn't reduce the number employees.  In fact, it was worse than that because they had more than one union, and when they went to one union, everyone got the rates of the highest union.  What they did, and I want to be clear, we're not in any way criticizing the utility for this; this was is it smart thing to do.  If you can't drive down the expenses in your amalgamation, try to find a way to drive up the revenues.


So they had a service company created to house the employees, in effect, the operations, and the cars and all that sort of stuff.  Everything except the buildings and the management team were in the services company.  They  set up the services company and they actively went out to get work from other utilities so that they could -- instead of reducing the workforce, they would increase the work they had to do.  They would get their productivity gains that way.


It was a smart thing to do.


In fact, they've been so good at it that their evidence now is that 50 percent of the service company's revenues come not from the utility but from third parties.  When you look at the consolidated statements versus the unconsolidated statements of the utility, there's a big difference, and the big difference is because they actually have a very substantial business in the services company that is not dependent on the utility.  They've doubled their staff, and they've more than doubled their revenues by doing that.  It was a smart thing to do.


At the time, they entered into an agreement between the services company and the utility.  The agreement basically said:  You, the utility, you will pay us for most of the services - not quite all of them, but almost all of them - on the basis of a formula, and it will be a formula in which we build in a reduction in your costs of 2 percent a year. 


They did that for three years, and then they left it flat after that.  So you'll get a benefit out of this.  We guarantee you'll get a benefit out of this, and we'll fix it by a formula in advance.  And so that's what the ratepayers get.  Everything else stays in the services company.


So if their economies of scale are much better than that, they get to keep it.  And, in fact, what the case is right now is that when they bid on things, when they do costed work, it's not actually bid, because they ‑‑ everything is sole source, but when they do project‑related work, the amount that's charged is approximately twice the hard cost.  


It's a 40 percent markup for general overheads for loading, and a further 40 percent markup for profit and general overhead, and the result of those two is 196 percent.


So if an employee is getting $40 an hour, they charge the services company $78 an hour.  This is all on the record.


This is probably not an unreasonable thing to do.  We're not suggesting that this is all bad, but it sounds a lot like an incentive regulation scheme, except that the Board didn't get to have a say in it.  The utility just did it and is keeping the profits.


And we don't know what they are, by the way, because we asked for the statements of the affiliates, the financial information of the affiliates, and the company refused.  And this, by the way, is part of the evidence that this Board typically requires from affiliates in situations like this. 


So I'll give you an example.  The last time we had a situation in which you had basically a shell - it was CustomerWorks Limited Partnership in the Enbridge case - where they had one employee and everything else was outsourced, and much of it to affiliates.  


And in that case the Board said, You have to give us the financial statements of everybody so we can see what's really going on.


In this case, the company has been asked twice for those financial statements, once in interrogatories in the fall and once at the Technical Conference, and they have refused both times.


MR. VLAHOS:  So, in the fall, in connection with which hearing?


MR. SHEPHERD:  With this proceeding.


MR. VLAHOS:  With this proceeding.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  So if you had a concern, Mr. Shepherd, why didn't you file a motion?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  The honest answer is Mr. DeVellis and his wife were expecting their first child and I was in the Far East at the graduation of my daughter from engineering school, and we dropped the ball.  We should have.  It's just -- these things happen.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  And it wasn't your expectation ‑‑ you mentioned that also you asked for it a second time during the Technical Conference.  Did you have a serious expectation you would receive those the day before the hearing of the motion?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The Technical Conference was last week.  It's relevant information.


MR. VLAHOS:  Or last week, whatever, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  They provided their financial statements, which are also confidential.  I don't see any reason for ‑‑


MS. SPOEL:  But, Mr. Shepherd, since you didn't raise it as an issue ‑‑ I mean, not having got it in the fall, for whatever reason it wasn't, you didn't make it an issue in the ‑‑ in regards to the January 2nd ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.


MS. SPOEL:  ‑‑ decision.  Having not made an issue in regard to the January 2nd decision, do you think ‑‑ I mean, I find it difficult to deal with that now, because it's sort of coming up as new evidence in the argument, because it wasn't a matter that was dealt with by the original hearing panel, because you didn't make this an issue in the hearing.


The final decision that we are looking at today doesn't deal with that issue, because you didn't, for whatever reasons, raise it.  I think it's late now to be bringing this up in the way you are.  


It's one thing to say they're making a lot of money with their affiliate, but you're suggesting that we should be looking into the details of that --


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I'm not.


MS. SPOEL:  -- in the context of this motion, and I don't think we have the evidentiary basis to do that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  I agree with you.  If it were my intention to ask you to look at what the fair amount should be charged by the affiliate in this proceeding, then I should have made a motion, and I thought about it.


MS. SPOEL:  But aren't you suggesting, when you say that looking at the decision as a whole, the fact they didn't receive the increase on a retrospective basis back to May 1st, that that can be balanced with by the fact that they're making or their affiliate is making a lot of money; that you're suggesting implicitly in that statement, are you not, that they're making too much money and that you want to re‑open that ‑‑ or you want to open that issue?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  What I'm saying is that the Board doesn't know whether they're making too much money.  The only evidence ‑‑


MS. SPOEL:  Well, then how can we deal with it?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The only evidence before the Board is that they have a high markup and that they structured an amalgamation of seven utilities so that there was a small amount going to the ratepayers and everything else went to the services company.  Those facts you know.  You have no other facts.


MS. SPOEL:  And neither do you, as far as this motion is concerned.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's correct.  So our submission is it is the applicant's case to show that their expenses are prudently incurred.


MS. SPOEL:  Well, and presumably they did that to the satisfaction of the Board - it made the January 2nd decision - because that decision was based upon the material they had filed without that being raised as an issue.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.


MS. SPOEL:  So I'm suggesting you're trying to reargue that case at this point.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, what I'm saying is, if they re‑open the question of the timing, then it's also legitimate for the Board to say, Well, wait a second, we also didn't see what your affiliate information is.  We asked for it; we didn't get it.


MR. VLAHOS:  Well, sorry, you asked for it, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, actually, Mr. Vlahos, you and Mr. Betts asked for it in the April 12th decision and didn't get it.


MR. VLAHOS:  What?


MR. SHEPHERD:  You asked for full information on affiliates.


MR. VLAHOS:  We received full information.  On the basis of that record, we approved.


MS. SPOEL:  There was a refiling of the application in August.  Are you suggesting that that application was incomplete?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  That's what we've been saying all along.


MS. SPOEL:  But you dropped that issue, for whatever reasons, and so the January 2nd decision was made based on the record available to Mr. Vlahos at the time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And what I'm saying is the fact that we dropped it is really quite irrelevant, because the Board doesn't make ‑‑ this is not like a lis inter partes where, if we don't raise something, the Board just ignores it.  


The Board is seized with the issue.  We try to help, and, if we're good, we give you a lot of help, and, if we're bad, we don't give you any help.  You still have the same responsibility to make the decision.


MR. VLAHOS:  Sounds to me you've missed the motion on the January 2nd decision.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  You didn't like the outcome of that decision and you ought to have filed a motion.  You have that right, just like everybody else.  The company has that right; we have that right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, actually, Mr. Vlahos, we liked the outcome.  We thought that while it wouldn't have been the way we would have done it, it gets to the right answer.  And so all we're saying is, if my friend wants to change part of it, that's fine.  Let's look at the rest of it, too.  


And our view is that if you look at the evidence before you, you see that there is, on the one hand, a cost to the utility associated with not getting the rates in place May 1st, and, on the other hand, you see there are some potential dangers to the ratepayers, some potential costs to the ratepayers or benefits to the utility or the affiliates, that have not been properly addressed by the applicant.


MR. KAISER:  And where is that in the January decision?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The January decision doesn't deal with it directly.  It accepts the expenses as filed.


MS. SPOEL:  Well, then isn't that the end of the matter, as far as the motion, this motion?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?


MS. SPOEL:  Isn't that the end of the matter in terms of this motion?  I mean, we're dealing ‑‑ there's a finding in the decision about delay being, you know, the applicant's fault, let's say.  Let's put it that way.  I'm paraphrasing.


There is no finding in the decision dealing with affiliate relations one way or the other, presumably because the Board accepted the evidence that was filed in the refiling.  Isn't that the end of the matter?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, this goes back to the discussion we had earlier.


MS. SPOEL:  Aren't you rearguing the January 2nd decision?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  What I'm saying is that once you open up that decision, you have to consider all the factors.  This is the discussion we had earlier.  And one of the factors is ‑‑ excuse me.  One of the factors is whether this utility is potentially overearning in affiliates.


MS. SPOEL:  But we have no evidence before us this afternoon to make that determination.


MR. SHEPHERD:   You don't have evidence to determine a number.  What you do have is evidence before you from the Technical Conference that there is potential overearning in the affiliate.  And so our position is that that is one of the balancing factors that you take into account in deciding whether the original decision fairly balanced the interests of the --


MS. SPOEL:  But you haven't brought a motion for us to receive new evidence.  There is no motion for a change of evidence or circumstances that have arisen, which is what the Technical Conference evidence would be, for us to bring in...


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't have to bring a motion.  There's a Technical Conference that's on the record.  It is in.


MR. KAISER:  Where in the Technical Conference, Mr. Shepherd, does it say that there are potential overearnings in the affiliate?  Can you point us to it in the transcript?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  The easiest place to see this is... just a sec.  The discussion goes from about page 42 to page 62.  61, maybe.  You'll see, for example, on page 44 the revenue of Servco has doubled.  You'll see on page 48, the evidence with respect to the double markup on costs.  Forty percent loading plus 40 percent overheads and profit.


MS. SPOEL:  But is that evidence of overearning or is that simply evidence of how they structure their prices?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's evidence of how they structure the prices.  The Board has said in past decisions on a number of occasions, if you do business with an affiliate, you have to either do it at cost or you have to find out what the market is.


MS. SPOEL:  No, I understand that.  But as to your point here of saying "of potential overearnings," you were asking us to draw an inference --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MS. SPOEL:  -- that this constitutes overearnings, and with respect, I think that's a little bit beyond the scope of what we're trying to deal with here today.  If your argument is, these guys are making a lot of money; therefore, even though it may seem like a harsh decision to not allow them to have retrospective rates back to May 1st, that's made up for by the fact that in other ways.  The whole package, the whole group of companies, seems to be doing quite well, so please exercise your discretion not to re-open the matter.


If that's your argument, that as a general thing they are doing pretty well, so let's not interfere with it, I can accept that.  But when you start getting into the detail of making allegations that we should draw or asking us to draw inferences that a particularly type of markup is evidence of overearning, when we don't have any other evidence before us except what's in this transcript, I don't think I can go that far.  I can't speak for the other Panel members here, but that's going an awfully long way to re-arguing the January 2nd decision.  We don't have the evidentiary base to do that, and we're not here to do that today.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Shepherd, can I add to this?


I'll be frank with you.  What I expected to here from you in terms of argument is that the company has been selective and the Board should not allow the selectivity.  You were going to argue that the law is with you - if it is, I don't know, I'm agnostic - that the Board cannot provide that relief that has been sought on the motion unless the Board is also willing to open up for any other issues that the intervenors wish to bring to the table.  I think that's what I expected to here from you.  That's what you led me to bring at the beginning of the day today.
You're not doing that.  Rather you are arguing about the facts that, as you understand them, as they've been filed, in this motion about whether the company is overearning or not, you know, depending on how the affiliate transactions have been struck.


That's where I'm a bit lost.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm actually doing --


MR. VLAHOS:  I'm sorry, and then I thought that you would argue that the motion should not be granted by the Board unless the Board wants to open it up, and the company, of course, whether they want to go ahead with it or not.  That's why I'm a bit surprised as to where you've taken us.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Vlahos, I think I am arguing what you're saying in a somewhat different sense.


That is, I'm arguing at the first stage, when you decide whether this decision has to be varied, the decision has to be based on correctness.  Correctness is not is every line correct.  Is their answer correct?  Did you get to the right answer?  Are the ratepayers paying the right amount of money, or a just and reasonable amount of money?


Our submission is that the company wishes to -- as you say, they wish to be selective and say, well, here is one factor that says, no, it's not fair.  We're saying, here are some other factors that suggest that it may not be fair the other way.  And it's the company's obligation to demonstrate that all the factors, all the factors, will produce a result in which you must decide that the decision was incorrect and vary it.


It is their motion.  It is their obligation.


MR. VLAHOS:  And therefore, are you asking Board to reject the motion?  We don't have to hear about the affiliate transactions?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm saying one of the factors that is a reason why you should reject the motion is the affiliate transactions.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right, but you don't have to spend many hours on it, Mr. Shepherd.  That's my point.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll try not to.


MR. KAISER:  There is only one piece of evidence that I can see on affiliate transactions that you appear to be relying on, and that's where you pointed out at page 48, the admission by their witness that there was a 40 percent markup.  So that’s close to the 40 percent markup.  I think, as Ms. Spoel said, what do we do with that?  How does that translate into overearning at the utility level?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Two things, Mr. Chairman.  First of all, it's two 40 percent markups.


MR. KAISER:  Supposing it is two 40 percent.  I still don't know what that does to the utility's rate of return.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What we have is an admission on the record which was not before the Board before -- it was not before the Board when the decision was made -- an admission on the record that the company did not comply with the Affiliate Relationships Code because they did not base their rates on costs and they did not base their rates on fair market value.  They based them on a formula, and they admit that that formula is not tied to cost.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That being the case, it is legitimate for this Board to say, well, okay, did they find some other way to protect the ratepayers to make sure that the ratepayers were being fairly treated.  So, for example, you would look at the contract - the MSA, they call it - and ask, is there a most-favoured nation clause?  They have lots of other customers.  They should be able to determine market.  There is no most-favoured nations clause.


What I'm saying is, if the evidence they provided to you raises a legitimate doubt, a legitimate doubt, that they're charging an appropriate price by their affiliate, that's a factor you should take into account in determining whether this decision, they've met their onus to ask you to overturn this decision.


MS. SPOEL:  Then do they have to do that with every other piece of information that they filed as part of this rate application, and where would this end?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think that it's a question of materiality.  There are very few issues in this rate application that are sufficiently material to make a difference.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Shepherd, can you just help me with just one question.


Are you asking this Board to enlarge the scope of the review, or are you asking the Board to reject the motion?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm asking you to reject the motion.


MR. VLAHOS:  Why wouldn't you ask for an enlargement of the review so that you can bring those things forward?


MR. SHEPHERD:  My alternative argument -- I think the right answer for the Board is to reject the motion, and the reason is a practical one.  This utility, not by their own request, but this utility is on the list for 2008 cost-of-service.  In our view, it is not sufficient from the Board's point of view to do a whole song and dance about their 2006 rates when we're going to get it right soon anyway, and we're going to look at all this stuff.


However, having said that, my argument in the alternative was going to be that if the Board determines that the decision was not correct, then in our submission you should ask them to file proper affiliate transactions evidence before you make a decision as to what the just and reasonable rates are.


MR. KAISER:  Anything further, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Those are my submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Stoll.    


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. STOLL:

MR. STOLL:  Just a few comments.  I think Ms. Spoel hit the issue on the head with respect to Mr. Shepherd's submissions.  And a couple of the allegations regarding that the costs ‑‑ or, sorry, that prices isn't tied to costs, that's not quite accurate.  It was tied to the '99 costs, and there were reductions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, Mr. Stoll, I can't hear you at all.


MR. STOLL:  Sorry.  I'll speak up again.


Just a few points, mostly to Mr. Millar's argument.  And I think if we step back, the Board established a revenue requirement that looked at a 12‑month period.  The way the orders played out, the utility cannot earn that revenue requirement.  It's impossible, and it's not a question of a couple of dollars.  It's a question of about 17 percent of the annual revenue.  So for the eight‑month period, it would be exacerbated, for the period that the interim order was in place.  


Where I have difficulty with Mr. Millar's submission is the setting of the interim rates has to be just and reasonable, and the way it is ‑‑ it functions in being just and reasonable is, when you look back in making the final decision, that the final decision can account for the impact that has been placed on the parties by that interim order. 


Do they have to make a retrospective order out of that?  Do they have to make a retroactive order?  The Chair addressed it this morning.  With an interim order, retroactivity isn't an issue.  We agree.  


Retrospectivity is an issue, just and reasonable rates, because the order doesn't permit us to recoup the revenue requirement, is the fundamental issues.


Now, with respect to this 12 percent ROE, the numbers we have are significantly lower.  To the extent that that's relevant, we're looking at between 7.5 and 9.5 percent as an impact, depending on whether the Board granted full relief or not.  So on that frame ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Can I just stop you there?  You're saying that if we granted relief in full, as requested, the rate of return would go from ‑‑


MR. STOLL:  It would appear to go to 9.6, based on a simple number, yes.


MR. KAISER:  From what?


MR. STOLL:  I would say we're ‑‑ what's the current ROE?  Well, the 2006 net income was $17,000 and change, $17,587.  So I would say that's pretty much nil for a return on equity, so -- from the audited financials.


Now, I don't want to make much issue, because I don't think it's terribly relevant at the end of the day.


MR. VLAHOS:  That's based on financial statements.  It's not the regulatory ‑‑


MR. STOLL:  Exactly.  And there, I think you would have to go through and rerun the numbers, see what the tax implications are, see how everything plays out, so -- but the suggestion that we're going to make massive amounts of money up in the neighbourhood of 12 percent is way overstating the case.


The idea that the schools have been burdened by $45,000, I'm not sure what sort of percentage impact that has on each individual school.  If that's $45,000 over 30 schools, it's $1,500 over two years.  I don't see that that is a huge deal.


And we can look at ‑‑ the Board has the responsibility of ensuring the just and reasonable rates in a cost of service that creates an obligation ‑‑ or a right for the utility to expect that its reasonable costs will be recoverable through rates.


To say that the cost of service is X, but only give a rate order that allows you to recoup X minus 20 percent does not tie together and does not create the end result that is just and reasonable rates.


With a couple of the other decisions, I think that my friend referred to the Espanola decision, Kashechewan.  I think it highlights the fact that several of the utilities are learning as they go.  This process is new to people, and the Board continued on, in the case with Espanola, where it wasn't in compliance, with the strict letter of the term.


But I'd like to also draw the Board's attention, at no point does it make a clear, definitive statement that failure to meet ‑‑ or supply the audited financials will have a dollar impact.


And I would just like to distinguish that.  If we look at the report of the Board in dealing with the EDR, it talks about the Board conclusions at page 20.  And in this case, we're talking about Tier 2 adjustments.  And it talks about:

"The Board will establish a variance account for any applicant receiving a Tier 2 adjustment.  If expenditures are lower than approved, the funds will be returned to ratepayers.  If expenditures exceed the plan, the Board would not expect these amounts would be eligible for recovery."


There's a very clear definition of the consequences.  That's not the case in the retrospectivity and the time line. So on those things, I would have to disagree with the clarity and the necessary result that flows from the clarity of the request.


And the utility responded to what they thought the Board wanted, maybe not perfectly, at the end of the day.  However, they provided the information on the utility.  The information was supported at the end of the day, and the revenue requirement was determined.


The problem is the implementation of the order precludes in finality the ability to recover the revenue requirement.  Those are my submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, sir.  Thank you, gentlemen, ladies.  We'll reserve on this matter and get back to you as soon as we can.


MR. STOLL:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


‑‑‑ Whereupon the hearing concluded at 1:01 p.m. 
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